#### ATHABASCA UNIVERSITY

# EFFECTIVE NURSING RECOVERY-ORIENTED INTERVENTIONS FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH SUBSTANCE USE DISORDERS

BY

## NIALL TAMAYO

#### A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF NURSING

FACULTY OF HEALTH DISCIPLINES

ATHABASCA, ALBERTA

DECEMBER, 2021

© NIALL TAMAYO



#### **Approval of Thesis**

The undersigned certify that they have read the thesis entitled

# EFFECTIVE NURSING RECOVERY-ORIENTED INTERVENTIONS FOR INDIVIDUALS WITH SUBSTANCE USE DISORDER

Submitted by

#### **Niall Tamayo**

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

#### **Master of Nursing**

The thesis examination committee certifies that the thesis and the oral examination is approved

#### **Supervisor:**

Dr. Annette Lane Athabasca University

#### **Committee Member:**

Kristin Petrovic Athabasca University

#### **External Examiner:**

Dr. Marcella Ogenchuk University of Saskatchewan

December 20, 2021

#### Acknowledgements

I am very thankful to have Dr. Annette Lane as a mentor and supervisor during this journey. She has been an amazing support and I don't think I would have been able to achieve any of the things without her steadfast encouragement and commitment. Even with life challenges, she has been by my side throughout my whole journey.

I want to acknowledge the individuals that I have worked with, who inspired the work that I embarked on. These individuals have ongoing tribulations that can be insurmountable, but they possess such resiliency and resourcefulness that I hope to possess one day.

My passion for addictions nursing was ignited when I met one of the most amazing professors, Colin MacRae, in my first year of Nursing school, who then took me to London and expanded my knowledge in Nursing. Without your encouragement and passion, I would not have pursued Mental Health and Addictions Nursing.

I want to acknowledge my colleagues throughout the years that supported and guided me, and I learned from. I want to thank Dr. Rola Moghabghab for giving me the opportunity and supporting me in my graduate studies. I am thankful for the Barford Scholarship which financially supported me. I would also like to acknowledge the endless editing work that Lori-Ann Brown provided throughout my studies.

I thank my parents for immigrating to Canada with the hope to give my siblings and I the opportunities we have. You have been hard working and I know that it has been challenging. I hope that this is a way for you to see the gratitude I have for the hardships you endured.

Lastly, I cannot thank my partner Francisco Parreira enough. You have been an amazing anchor throughout this challenge. You made sure that I took care of myself and you took care of everything else. To everyone, I thank you and we did!

#### Abstract

Nurses support the recovery of individuals with substance use disorder. However, negative attitudes adopted by nurses discourage individuals who use substances from accessing healthcare services, experiencing further health deterioration. Alternatively, nurses can enact interventions that support the recovery of individuals. Hence, it is beneficial to increase nurses' awareness of effective interventions that promote recovery. Based on the review of literature, there is a lack of Canadian studies that examine the nursing perspective. Moreover, recovery-oriented nursing interventions can be more frequently or exclusively applied within distinct settings (inpatient, outpatient, and community). These factors enhance the importance of a study examining how Canadian nurses effectively intervene with individuals with substance use disorder. The purpose of this study was to utilize Qualitative Description to explore effective nursing interventions from the perspective of inpatient nurses. Purposive sampling was utilized, and data was collected using semi-structured interviews. Lastly, data was analyzed using Qualitative Content Analysis.

Keywords: substance abuse, addiction, acute mental health, recovery, nursing role

# **Table of Contents**

Approval Page	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Author's Positionality	6
Purpose	7
Research Questions	7
Significance	8
Chapter 2: Manuscript – Literature Review	9
Manuscript Discussion	9
Manuscript - Literature Review	9
Chapter 3: Manuscript - Methodology	43
Manuscript - Methodology	43
Specifics of Project Methodology	61
Study Design	61
Interpretive Framework.	61
Study Population	62
Sampling.	62
Participant Recruitment.	62
Consent.	63
Data Collection	
Data Analysis	
Ethical Considerations	
Compensation.	66
Managing Risk	
Limitations	
Chapter 4: Findings	68
Demographics	

View of Recovery	68
Recovery as a Process	69
General Goals	
Person Driven	
Theory or Approaches	
Biopsychosocial Model and Concurrent Disorder Approach  De-stigmatizing Approach and Lived Experience	
Trauma-Informed Approach	73
Stages of Change and Motivational Interviewing (MI)	
Effective Nursing Intervention Themes	75
Person-Centred Care	75
Establishing a Therapeutic Relationship	75
General Nursing Approaches.	77
Talking to the Person.	78
Co-Creation of a Care Plan.	80
Goal Identification.	81
Collaborating With the Person.	84
Empowering the Person in Their Recovery Journey and Fostering Hope	85
Education.	85
Discussion of Options and Providing Choice.	87
Encouragement and Advocacy.	88
Holistic Approach	91
Biological.	92
Withdrawal Management.	93
Psychological.	94
Social	96
Spirituality and Culture	97
Recreation Therapy	98
Chapter 5 Discussion	100
The View of Recovery	100
The Application of Theory, Models, and Approaches	100
Comparing the Literature Review and the Findings of the Study	104
Significance of the Findings	108

Limitations	109
Future Directions	110
Conclusion	110
References	111
Footnotes	128
Appendix A: Athabasca University Research Ethics Board Approval	129
Appendix B: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board Approval	130
Appendix C: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board Amendment Approval	132
Appendix D: Study Flow Chart	134
Appendix E: Recruitment Poster	135
Appendix F: Letter of Information/ Informed Consent Form	136
Appendix G: Interview Protocol	141

# **List of Tables**

Table 1 Included Articles	36
Table 2 Themes and Subthemes of Effective Nursing Interventions	42
Table 3 Participant Characteristics	69
Table 4 The Theme and Subthemes Within Person-Centred Care	76
Table 5 The Theme and Subthemes Within Empowerment and Hope	86
Table 6 The Theme and Subthemes Within Holistic Interventions	91

List	of	Fig	ures

Figure 1	Selection of Articles	- Based on PRIS	SMA Flow Diagram	 18
_			_	

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

For various reasons such as curiosity, pleasure, relief, or better performance, individuals consume substances in their life. Substances can be those that are legal such as alcohol, cannabis, and caffeine; there are those that are considered controlled and illegal such as heroin, methamphetamines, and hallucinogens (Controlled and Illegal Drugs, 2021). Although not everyone develops a Substance Use Disorder <sup>1</sup> (SUD) or an addiction, a survey completed in 2012 (Pearson et al., 2013) estimated that about 1 out of 5 Canadians, 15 years of age and older met a criteria of SUD in their lifetime. SUD is defined as a "...cluster of cognitive, behavioural, and physiological symptoms indicating that the individual continues using the substances despite significant substance-related problems" (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013, p.483). SUDs have many consequences such as physical injuries, cognitive changes, interpersonal problems, financial hardships, unstable housing, and legal challenges. Between 2015 and 2017, healthcare costs, loss of productivity, criminal justice issues, and other direct costs of substance use amounted to 46 billion dollars (Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group [CSUCHSWG], 2020), making it a costly illness to the Canadian society.

Although individuals with SUD seek help, they experience discrimination and stigmatization from healthcare providers (van Boekel et al., 2013). The stigmatizing experience from health care providers may lead to avoidance and delay in seeking mental health care which increases exposure to more consequences and worsening conditions (Mundy, 2012). Goffman (1968) proposed that stigma arises from a negatively perceived social attribute leading to the co-occurrence of labelling, stereotyping, separation, and social power. The stigma experienced by individuals who struggle with SUD can be explained by the moralization of substance use.

Moralization is the modification of a preference into a value within a culture (Rozin & Singh,

1999). The use of substances is often viewed as a choice; much like what a person may eat in the morning. However, if behaviours lead to negative consequences, one attempts to stop or reduce the behaviour. For example, one may reduce the croissants eaten in the morning due to weight gain. Yet, Individuals with Substance Use Disorders (ISUD) have impaired control (APA, 2013) and may possess challenges with discontinuing a behaviour even if they want to. Hence, the continued substance use despite the consequences leads to a misconception that these individuals are responsible for their condition (Frank & Nagel, 2017). However, the conception of the disease model of addiction has contributed to the demoralization of addiction. The model proposes that substance use leads to changes in the brain systems responsible for reward, behaviour, and control (APA, 2013). The changes in the brain provides an explanation of why it is difficult to reduce and abstain from substance use thereby diminishing person-blaming (Lewis, 2016). Even with this advancement, addiction remains a moralized concept.

Nurses may hold stigmatizing and negative attitudes towards SUD clients (Russell et al., 2017). This is concerning as nurses are the largest group of health care providers in Canada (Canadian Nurses Association, 2013). Fortunately, nurses can specialize in psychiatry and learn how to effectively intervene with ISUD. Nursing interventions can focus on reinforcing and sustaining recovery capital, the internal (human and physical) and external factors (social and cultural) that assist one's recovery with SUD (White & Cloud, 2008) (promoting recovery capital can be difficult in inpatient settings due to a short duration of admission and frequent staffing changes). Moreover, effective interventions that promote the recovery of ISUD can be theorized within articles, guidelines, and other resources, but expertise in providing addiction care is acquired and a contextualized competency. Knowing what, when, how, and why interventions are implemented is vital to the success of such interventions. To illustrate the impact of nursing

interventions, I present three clinical case experiences that promoted the recovery of some individuals with which I previously worked.

Apprehension with treatment due to previous experiences

A young client presented to the clinic who used an extensive amount of opioids that they usually obtained from the "street". This individual used substances daily and usually injected opioids. This person had accessed treatment at another organization before but explained that they were not "properly" supported with Buprenorphine, an opioid replacement therapy. The client had Buprenorphine administered prematurely, which induced very uncomfortable withdrawal symptoms (precipitated withdrawal) and led to this person not pursuing this treatment further and subsequently, started using opioids again.

After recognizing this history, I sat down with the patient and discussed their concerns, fears, and experiences. I explained the different options that we could take and suggested that although they had an unfortunate experience in the past, we could certainly try doing a Buprenorphine induction again. I provided information about the medication's pharmacological properties, the induction process, what they could expect when we do the induction, and ways that we could prevent the previous experience from reoccurring. Reluctantly, this person agreed.

Although this person had many fears, they showed up on the day as planned. I reviewed the process and expectations again. I conducted withdrawal assessments as they presented and when it was appropriate to provide the medication, I had a discussion with the patient regarding their past experience. I proposed that we could delay the administration of Buprenorphine for another 1-2 hours to ensure that they do not experience precipitated withdrawal, but only if they were comfortable with this plan. They agreed and after some time, I administered the medication, with no adverse outcomes. The induction process was a success! This person was

thankful for the process, returned to the clinic, and was able to achieve a stable dose of the medication.

By doing appropriate assessments, utilizing the person's experience, and providing choice and education, I was able to provide a more comfortable treatment experience which resulted in the person achieving an alternative to their opioid use.

The importance of therapeutic relationships

A client who used oral opioids daily had been coming to the clinic for many years. Their opioid use was complicated with challenges of pain and a diagnosis of Borderline Personality Disorder. When I started working with this person, they were already on Methadone.

In one instance, they presented to the clinic in distress. As I was speaking with this person, they begin to raise their voice and became verbally abusive towards me. As I listened to the person, I validated their experience, yet I provided boundaries and clear expectations regarding behaviour with other clients and staff. Additionally, I highlighted that I was here to support them and would do everything I could do to provide that support. They were apologetic and disclosed that due to stress, they consumed an additional dose of Methadone. I conducted an immediate safety assessment and suggested that we would ensure their continued safety while considering how to manage future doses. They were thankful, and we were able to manage that incident. I kept seeing this patient whenever they came into the clinic and they would seek me out whenever they could.

In another instance, this same person was in distress and they informed me that they had injected opioids for the first time. I validated their experiences and reassured them that there can be challenges with substance use and although they injected, we would support them in their recovery journey. Again, that incident was managed, and the person kept returning to the clinic

and appropriately, was able to come in less frequently over time. They were able to achieve a stable dose of Methadone and utilized skills that they had learned.

By being nonjudgmental and patient, I was able to continue to build a therapeutic relationship with this patient. This resulted in the person continually seeking me out and being forthcoming with their challenges, and thus, I was able to support their recovery journey.

Recovery goals beyond the substance use

Over a couple of years, I established a relationship with an individual who kept coming into the clinic. Our conversations tended to focus on their substance use, medical challenges, and issues with housing. As we developed a relationship, I started asking about other aspects of their life. I focused on what they were trying to accomplish and any educational or vocational goals. They shared with me that they were so thankful for the support they received in our clinic that they would actually like to look at pursuing either an education or a career in addictions. We spoke about next steps they were undertaking regarding this, looked at resources, and agreed that we were going to revisit this whenever they came in.

Whenever this person came in, they were very excited to share developments regarding this goal. We reviewed their progress toward their goal and any supports I could provide. At times that I was not able to see them, they would stop me in the hallway and give me a quick update. One day when we were connecting, they informed me that they were currently going to school - a case worker program - and that they were now also employed as a peer worker in an addiction program.

By focusing on another aspect of their life, I was able to empower and instill hope, establishing goals that the person achieved.

My clinical experiences have shown me how nurses can have an extraordinary impact on the recovery and lives of ISUD. However, specific training is needed to develop expertise to work with ISUD. Moreover, there are various factors that may impact the effectiveness of nurses' interventions when working with ISUD. However, I was trained in this field and was able to develop expertise to work with ISUD. For instance, although there are theories, models, and guidelines that nurses can use when supporting ISUD, they may not fit the environments where nurses work. For example, some organizations have not adopted a recovery model, yet have policies that do not support addiction care, or have a milieu with competing priorities that present challenges when caring for ISUD. Additionally, nurses may deem certain interventions to be effective which may be contrary to the clients' perception of effective supports. For example, nurses may endorse the use of opioid maintenance therapy or provide psychoeducation about pharmacotherapy even though this does not fit the person's goals. Additionally, nursing practices may be developed before evidence-based research supports the usage of these practices; thus, nurses may be implementing novel and unsupported interventions when working with ISUD. Hence, it is important to explore evidence informed effective nursing interventions and practices that promote the recovery of ISUD. This study will equip nurses who provide care to ISUD with ways to effectively facilitate recovery; ultimately, improving the healthcare provided to ISUD.

#### **Author's Positionality**

To contextualize the conception of this research project and different phases of the research process, it is important to discuss the author's positionality. Currently, I am an advanced practice clinical leader at the academic psychiatric teaching hospital in Toronto where I conducted the study; this gave me familiarity with the current issues, policies, and context within the organization. Additionally, I am a trained addiction nurse with various experiences in the

community, and in inpatient, outpatient, and emergency psychiatric departments. I became interested in this topic when individuals who struggled with substance use shared their not so positive, stigmatizing, and dehumanizing experiences in non-specialized psychiatric units and specialized psychiatric units. I utilize the lenses of person-centred, strengths-based, equity, and social justice when providing nursing care and would like these individuals to receive the best care they can receive. I feel privileged to be working with resilient individuals who encounter many barriers and challenges. Lastly, I want to acknowledge my privilege in being able to achieve higher education and ability to conduct research at my facility. Overall, I aim to improve the care of individuals who struggle with substance use and ultimately improve the healthcare system.

#### Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to describe the effective recovery-oriented nursing interventions that inpatient nurses apply in an academic teaching hospital in Toronto. For this research, recovery-oriented interventions will generally be defined as any behaviours, actions, or interventions that support the recovery of ISUD. While the effectiveness of interventions can have different meanings for different individuals, they are considered effective when they help ISUD progress towards their goals or recovery.

#### **Research Questions**

The central question is:

What actions, behaviours, and interventions in inpatient settings enacted by inpatient nurses promoted the recovery of ISUD within an academic teaching psychiatric hospital in Toronto – Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH)?

The sub questions are:

How do nurses view recovery?

How do nurses demonstrate recovery principles?

Are there any specific theories or models that nurses use when working with ISUD?

Are there recovery-oriented actions that are applied more frequently?

How do these interventions promote recovery?

Are some interventions more effective than others?

Are there interventions more frequently applied depending on the setting?

### **Significance**

This study highlighted effective recovery-oriented interventions that inpatient nurses at CAMH utilize when working with ISUD. This study also shed light on the theories, frameworks, models, and interventions nurses are utilizing in practice. Nurses may use the knowledge (of effective nursing interventions) acquired from this study, thus facilitating the recovery of, and improving the care for, individuals who struggle with substance use.

This study originated from hearing the negative experiences of ISUD that I worked with, I then reflected on positive and successful nursing interventions, and established the goal to improve the care ISUD receive. By focusing on what is working well and what has been effective, nurses can implement effective interventions to improve the care experience. The study furthers nursing science within the field of SUD and will help reduce stigmatizing experiences of ISUD.

#### **Chapter 2: Manuscript – Literature Review**

#### **Manuscript Discussion**

This master's thesis is completed using a manuscript-based style. It contains one article which is in press and one published article. The first manuscript which is currently in press discusses the literature review that supports the need to pursue the thesis. It analyses the current literature and future directions that can be taken. The second published manuscript discusses the methodology that I planned to employ within my thesis, qualitative description (QD). It discusses the different aspects of QD and argues that novice nurse researchers should consider the use of QD when conducting research. Both manuscripts are embedded within Chapter 2. Given that the second manuscript is a high-level overview of QD, I will also present the diverse components of the research that I employed for the thesis in Chapter 3.

#### **Manuscript - Literature Review**

The first manuscript is of a literature review completed during the independent study course. I completed the literature review independently under the guidance and review of Dr. Annette Lane. To further nursing science, we submitted the literature review to the *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, and it was accepted in December 2020. It is in press and awaiting publication.

EFFECTIVE NURSING INTERVENTIONS	
Effective Nursing Recovery-Oriented Interventions for Individuals with Substance Use Dis	sorder:
A Literature Review	

#### **Accessible Summary**

What is known on the subject?

- Recovery is a routinely applied concept when working with individuals with substance use issues.
- Depending on the nurse's viewpoint of recovery, interventions vary; some being ineffective and some being successful.
- There are recovery guidelines, models, and frameworks that nurses may utilize.
   However, there is a lack of literature that examines its application and effectiveness when working with individuals with substance use disorders.

What the paper adds to existing knowledge?

- Effective nursing interventions are rooted in the themes: person-centred care, empowerment, and enhancing supports and capability.
- Some nursing interventions were more prominent from the perspectives of nurses and individuals with substance use disorder.
- Some effective nursing interventions are often disregarded.

What are the implications for practice?

- Nurses should be mindful of the theoretical and philosophical background of their actions, behaviours, and interventions when working with individuals with substance use disorder.
- Nurses should utilize effective interventions identified by individuals with substance use disorders and may integrate interventions that are possibly overlooked.
- Researchers can explore the qualitative experiences of nurses and individuals with substance use disorders within the Canadian landscape.

#### **Abstract**

#### Introduction

Nurses support the recovery of individuals with substance use disorder. However, diverse perspectives of recovery lead to various interventions that maybe ineffective.

Alternatively, nurses can enact interventions that promote positive experiences. Hence, it is beneficial to increase nurses' awareness of effective interventions that promote recovery.

Aim

To examine effective nursing interventions that promoted the recovery of individuals with substance use disorders

#### Method

A literature review was conducted, and thematic analysis approaches were used.

Results

Seventeen qualitative studies were included. Nine articles focused only on the perspective of individuals with substance use disorder, five focused on nursing perspective, and three included both perspectives.

#### Discussion

The review identified that effective interventions were based on three major themes: person-centred care, empowerment, and maintaining supports and capability enhancement. Additionally, literature revealed that some interventions were perceived to be more effective; this depended upon whose viewpoint was examined - nurses or individuals with substance use disorders. Lastly, there are interventions based on spirituality, culture, advocacy, and self-disclosure that are often disregarded but may be effective.

Implications for Practice

Nurses should utilize the more prominent interventions as they offer the most benefit and integrate interventions that are often overlooked.

Keywords: substance abuse, addiction, acute mental health, recovery, nursing role

#### Introduction

Substance use is a debilitating healthcare concern, impacting the physical, psychological, and social well-being of Canadians, through individual or familial experience. In 2012, approximately "...21.6% of Canadians met the criteria for a substance use disorder during their lifetime" (Pearson, Janz, & Ali, 2013). The overall healthcare-related cost, loss of productivity, criminal justice, and other direct costs of substance use amounted to 38.4 billion dollars in 2014 (Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group [CSUCHSWG], 2018). Between 2007-2014, healthcare costs increased and represented almost 30% (11.1 billion dollars) of the total cost in 2014 (CSUCHSWG, 2018), making it a costly illness to Canadians.

Individuals with substance use disorder (ISUD) can recover without some form of treatment (Klingemann, Sobell, & Sobell, 2010), however, there are those who seek support from clinicians. Still, ISUD often experience discrimination and stigmatization from healthcare providers (van Boekel, Brouwers, van Weeghel, & Garretsen, 2013). The stigmatizing experience leads to delay and avoidance of healthcare, increasing exposure to consequences and worsening conditions (Mundy, 2012). Since nurses are the largest group of healthcare providers in Canada (Canadian Nurses Association, 2013), nurses are well suited to provide care to ISUD. However, nurses are not immune to stigma and hold negative attitudes towards ISUD (Russell et al., 2017). These attitudes are exhibited in the form of behaviour or actions towards ISUD which can be detrimental to facilitating improvement for ISUD. To mitigate negative attitudes when caring for ISUD, nurses apply the concept of recovery.

Recovery is a routinely applied concept to the area of mental health; it originated from the 1960s and 1970s, driven by service users' oppressive experience with the mental health system (Piat & Sabetti, 2012). The previous system was mainly based on the perspectives of

professionals such as academics, lawyers, and psychiatrists (Tomes, 2006), which minimized the input of those within the system. The deficits within the mental health system experienced by its service users were identified within two thousand personal stories, leading to the production of the report *Out of the Shadows at Last*; the document outlined a need to transform mental health services and adopt recovery-oriented practice (Kirby & Keon, 2006).

Recovery can be commonly viewed in two ways: clinical recovery and personal recovery. Clinical recovery utilizes the expertise of mental health clinicians with the goal of restoration of social functioning, long-term mental stability, and *getting back to normal* (Slade, 2009; De Ruysscher, Vandevelde, Vanderplasschen, De Maeyer, & Vanheule, 2017). However, professionals can have a different, contradicting perspective on what normal is. Moreover, this mindset leads clinicians to "...diagnose and treat with the aim of curing people or reducing their symptoms" (Slade et al., 2014, p.13). Nevertheless, individuals can live a fulfilling life with the presence of symptoms and diagnosis.

Alternatively, personal recovery is defined as a "...deeply personal, unique process.... a way of living a satisfying, hopeful and contributing life even with the limitation caused by illness" (as cited in Leamy, Bird, Le Boutillier, Williams, & Slade, 2011, p. 445). This view assumes that recovery is individual, worked towards and experienced by the person with mental illness (Slade, 2009). It acknowledges and incorporates the illness and experience, becoming part of the person, rather than a focus, leading the person to develop new meaning and purpose (Anthony, 1993). Slade et al. (2012) summarized the critical aspects of personal recovery as the Connectedness, Hope, Identity, Meaning, and Empowerment (CHIME) framework. Although the study used search terms such as mental illness and psychiatric disorder, it excluded studies defining recovery from substance use disorder (SUD) (Slade et al., 2012). Additionally, the

majority of the studies focused on severe mental illness (Leamy et al., 2011), usually associated with mental illness, with psychotic features (Kinter, 2017). Thus, the CHIME framework may or may not be applicable when caring for ISUD. Moreover, De Ruysscher et al. (2017) conducted a systematic review which included those with SUD, but it focused on defining recovery. Also, the study identified care expectations and wants of participants (De Ruysscher et al., 2017); however, what supported recovery may not always align with what ISUD wanted and expected.

Nurses can rely on the Guidelines for Recovery Oriented Practice (Mental Health Commission of Canada, 2015), which outline how clinicians exemplify recovery principles. Another resource that nurses utilize is the Tidal model (Barker & Buchanan-Barker, 2005); it specifies nurses' role, caring responses, and recovery when caring for individuals with mental health concerns (Barker, 2001). Although such frameworks, guidelines, and models exist, it can take seventeen years for research evidence to reach clinical practice (Morris, Wooding, & Grant, 2011). Likewise, although it has been more than a decade, mental health reform outlined in the report *Out of the Shadows at Last* (Kirby & Keon, 2006) may not have been fully implemented. The diverse outlooks of recovery-oriented practice and health system priorities leads to a gap between the ideal and actual practice (Le Boutillier et al., 2015). Hence, it is vital to review the current literature regarding effective nursing interventions and practices that promote the recovery of ISUD.

The aim of the literature review is to examine effective nursing interventions, actions, and behaviours that support the recovery of ISUD. The following research questions were fundamental for this review. Firstly, the review focuses on nursing interventions that transpired and were perceived to be beneficial to recovery; the first question is: What were helpful nursing interventions, actions, and behaviours that promoted recovery of ISUD? Secondly, the review

attempts to illuminate how such actions supported the recovery journey; the second question is: How does the nursing intervention promote recovery? Lastly, it is helpful to uncover if there are discrepancies in the perspective of nurses and ISUD; the third question is: What similarities and differences exists between the perspectives of nurses and ISUD?

#### Methods

Articles regarding effective nursing interventions that promoted recovery for ISUD were identified through a search on the database of CINAHL, PsycINFO, Academic Search Complete, Sage Journals, ScienceDirect, SocINDEX, and MEDLINE (See Figure 1). The key words 'interventions' OR 'actions' OR 'behaviour' AND 'recovery' AND 'substance use' OR 'addiction' AND 'nurs\*' were used in the literature search. Articles were limited to dates between 2010 and 2019, being peer-reviewed, and the availability of full-text. The search resulted in 10480 articles. The authors utilized the following inclusion criteria: (1) studies that included nurses who provided care to ISUD; (2) studies that included ISUD who received care from nurses; (3) studies that focused on the adult population; (4) studies that examined effective interventions, actions, and behaviours that promoted recovery; and (5) studies that were in English. Moreover, the authors utilized the following exclusion criteria: (1) studies that looked at efficacy of treatment models and interventions; (2) studies that examined population health interventions; (3) studies that looked at policy; (4) studies that focused on a diagnosis that did not include SUD; (5) studies that only focused on factors that promote recovery; and (6) studies that addressed care expectations prior to the start of treatment. Each article's title was screened, and the abstract was further assessed against the inclusion and exclusion criteria; this resulted in fifty-one articles being retained for further review. These fifty-one articles were further

#### Figure 1

Selection of Articles-Based on PRISMA Flow Diagram

#### Identified papers: N = 10480

Studies identified in CINAHL (N= 2167), PsychINFO (N=94), Academic Search Complete

(N=6142), Sage Journals (N=132), ScienceDirect (N=131), SocINDEX (N=1715),

#### Inclusion of articles based on review of title and/or abstracts: N = 51

CINAHL (N=25), PsychINFO (N=0), Academic Search Complete (N=19), Sage Journals (N=0), ScienceDirect (N=0), SocINDEX (N=4), MEDLINE (N=3)

Full papers retrieved and reviewed in-depth against inclusion and exclusion criteria

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

- (1) studies that included nurses who provided care to ISUD;
- (2) studies that included ISUD who received care from nurses;
- (3) studies that focused on the adult population;
- (4) studies that examined effective interventions, actions, and behaviours that promote recovery; and
- (5) studies that were in English.

#### **Exclusion Criteria**

- (1) studies that looked at efficacy of treatment models and interventions;
- (2) studies that examined population health interventions;
- (3) studies that looked at policy;
- (4) studies that focused on a diagnosis that did not include SUD;
- (5) studies that only focused on factors that promote recovery; and
- (6) studies that addressed care expectations prior to the start of treatment

Included Studies: N = 17

CINAHL (N=4)

PsychINFO (N=0)

Academic Search Complete (N= 10)

Sage Journals (N=0)

ScienceDirect (N=0)

SocINDEX (N=1)

MEDLINE (N=2)

Excluded Studies: N = 34

*Note:* The process undertaken for the inclusion of articles for the literature review. reviewed, resulting in the inclusion of seventeen articles and rejection of thirty-four articles for the literature review.

#### **Findings**

The seventeen studies were conducted in several countries including Norway (9), Australia (2), Sweden (3), United States (2), and Canada (1) (See Table 1). All studies were qualitative; data collection was completed at one time point in fourteen studies, but there were three longitudinal studies. Studies examined the perspectives of ISUD (9); perspectives of clinicians which included nurses (3); perspectives of nurses (2); and perspective of clinicians which included nurses and ISUD (3). Lastly, the studies focused on the diagnosis of SUD (7); general psychiatry, which included SUD (4); or Concurrent Disorders (CD) (6), those that have a co-occurring mental health and SUD (Skinner, 2005). The authors utilized a thematic analysis approach when reviewing the studies. Overall, the review reveals that effective nursing interventions that promote recovery were grounded on 3 major themes and 8 subthemes (See Table 2): person-centred care (maintaining humanness of the person, recovery individualized); empowerment (collaboration and promotion of autonomy, sustaining hope and future orientation, and highlighting strengths through feedback); and maintaining supports and capability enhancement (listening and stimulating reflections, connecting and reconnecting, and practical support leading to skill acquisition).

#### **Person-Centred Care**

All except two articles discussed that it was beneficial for nurses to place ISUD in the centre of caring interaction. Subthemes that recurred were maintaining humanness of the person and recovery individualized.

Maintaining Humanness of the Person. Initially, ISUD must feel valued as a person within the caring interaction (McCallum, Mikocka-Walus, Gaughwin, Andrews, & Turnbull, 2016). Nurses achieved this by creating a welcoming environment and revealing a caring attitude (Moltu, Stefansen, Nøtnes, Skjølberg, & Veseth, 2017; Thorkildsen, Eriksson, & Råholm, 2015). They offered warm clothing, a bed, and a warm beverage when greeting the person (Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Concern was displayed by expressing a readiness to help and willingness to take part in the suffering (Thorkildsen et al., 2015). For example, nurses communicated that ISUD were in safe hands and would receive help (Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Moreover, respectful and empathetic responses allowed nurses to join the person's journey (Priebe, Wiklund-Gustin, & Fredriksson, 2018). ISUD outlined that such actions produced a feeling that nurses were "...there just for me" (Pettersen et al., 2019, p.4). ISUD revealed that seeing the nurse's personal belongings and photographs demonstrated the humanity of nurses (Priebe et al., 2018).

Moreover, ISUD noted that nurses must be mindful of stigma (Ness et al., 2017). Stigma altered a person's self-concept to the point that they see themselves as *less than* (McCallum et al., 2016). Thus, effective interventions conveyed that the nurse saw the diagnosis secondary to the person (Ness et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2018; Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Nurses focused on getting to know the person behind the symptoms (Cruce et al., 2012) and validated unique qualities within each individual (Thorkildsen et al., 2015). A helpful strategy was to try to understand the person and the presenting problem through listening (Brekke et al., 2018; Cruce et al., 2012). Possessing core thoughts of wishing the person well (Andvig & Biong, 2014), and a core commitment to human beings and the alleviation of suffering (Thorkildsen et al., 2015) allowed nurses to focus on the person rather than the diagnosis.

Having a non-judgemental approach and response is another way to maintain the humanness of ISUD (Cruce et al., 2012; McCallum et al., 2016; Ness et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2018;). Nurses minimized judgements and received secrets and disclosures without negative reactions (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012; Moltu et al., 2017). Within these vulnerable interactions, they were mindful of their body language (Ness et al., 2017). Moreover, respect was maintained when abstinence was not prioritized or when substances were used (Brekke et al., 2018). Nurses noted that it was favourable to embrace the possibility of substance use during the recovery journey (Thorkildsen et al., 2015). When relapse occurred, nurses were supportive and expressed understanding of the struggle (Brekke et al., 2018; Cruce et al., 2012).

Recovery Individualized. Helpful interventions extracted and upheld the person's recovery needs, and goals. Nurses became acquainted with the person's wishes and goals by asking general questions (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). It was important to confirm that goals were realistic and specific (Koehn, & Cutcliffe, 2012; Ness et al., 2017). Nurses helped ISUD articulate smaller and attainable steps toward their goals (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012; Nordfjaern et al., 2010). For example, nurses co-created manageable weekly plans that incorporated barriers and resources (Biringer, Davidson, Sundfor, Ruud, & Borg, 2016). They also listened for clues and topics introduced by the person and explored it as a potential goal (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). When ISUD had difficulty articulating goals, nurses proposed goals that integrated complex holistic needs (McCallum et al., 2016; Cruce et al., 2012). For example, they highlighted goals based on nutrition, activity, rest, and hygiene; goals did not always have to focus on substance use (Andvig & Biong, 2014). However, nurses necessitated that goals focused on ISUD needs rather than whatever the nurse thought was useful, this prevented them from having a paternalistic attitude (Ness et al., 2014; Ness et al., 2017).

Being accessible, patient, and flexible promoted person-centred care (Green, Yarborough, Polen, Janoff, & Yarborough, 2015; Munro, Allan, Shakeshaft, & Breen, 2017). Firstly, timely care prevented drop out (Ness et al., 2017). It was essential that nurses were available to talk when something transpired (Biringer et al., 2016; Munro et al., 2017). Even when it was against the rules, nurses were open to having conversations at nighttime (Andvig & Biong, 2014). Being available allowed ISUD to discuss serious topics from the deepest depths, such as trauma (Andvig & Biong, 2014). It was advantageous to allow individuals to approach nurses at their own pace and not be too eager to step in (Ness et al., 2017). Lastly, it was favourable to be flexible (Munro et al., 2017). For example, nurses avoided discharging ISUD who relapsed within a program (Green et al., 2015).

#### **Empowerment**

All except one study found that it was effective for nurses to focus on increasing the ability of ISUD to make changes as it increased decision-making. Subthemes that recurred were collaboration and promotion of autonomy, sustaining hope and future orientation, and highlighting strengths through feedback.

Collaboration and Promotion of Autonomy. Collaboration between nurses and ISUD supported recovery (Green et al., 2015). Vital interventions promoted active choice (Andvig & Biong, 2014). To encourage choice, nurses emphasized that ISUD will be involved in decision-making (McCallum et al., 2016; Thorkildsen et al., 2015) and have control over their care (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). Nurses did not make choices on behalf of the individual with SUD, but supported the individual in decision-making (Brekke et al., 2018; Ness et al., 2014). Nurses obtained the person's preferred course of action and supported his or her choice (Ness et al., 2017). When ISUD had limited information, nurses shared ideas, tools, resources, and advice

(McCallum et al., 2016; Ness et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2018). However, nurses were mindful that the person requested or was open to their perspective (Ness et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2018). Some information that can be provided were about psychiatric illness, substance dependence, difficulties the illness may bring (Green et al., 2015; Priebe et al., 2018), and goal-focused treatment options (Velez, Nicolaidis, Korthuis, & Englander, 2016); this increased ISUD's understanding and decision-making (Moltu et al., 2017). Nurses inquired what previously worked for the person as it demonstrated that nurses would involve ISUD in solution building (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016). It was also advantageous that nurses asked about the person's perspective on possible solutions to present challenges (Andvig & Biong, 2014).

Sustaining Hope and Future Orientation. Nurses must carry hopefulness and optimism that ISUD can achieve their recovery goals (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012; Ness et al., 2017). Thus, nurses conveyed hope to the person (Andvig & Biong, 2014). A helpful intervention was to endorse that ISUD possessed strengths and could achieve a life without substances (Ness et al., 2014; Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Hopefulness was demonstrated when nurses did not concede when individuals felt uncertain, powerless, and helpless; nurses carried hope for the person (Andvig & Biong, 2014; Ness et al., 2014). For example, nurses encouraged ISUD to stay, engage in treatment, rather than leave after multiple failed attempts (Velez et al., 2016). Nurses hoped that the person would achieve long-lasting change, especially in the presence of relapse to substance use (Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Being hopeful on behalf of the person, becoming 'holders of hope', inspired the possibility of recovery. ISUD must also have hope themselves. To instill hope, nurses inquired about the future aspirations of ISUD (Pettersen et al., 2019). By focusing on the future, ISUD saw themselves as persons with a future rather than hopeless individuals (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016). Nurses asked ISUD to

daydream about the future (Biringer et al., 2016); this exposed them to a future with limited substance use. It was also helpful to ask persons to reflect on the past. ISUD outlined that it was helpful to think about a time that included good memories before the substance use (Pettersen et al., 2019); this reinforced a life whereby substance use was not a focus, making their goal possible.

Highlighting Strengths Through Feedback. ISUD need to believe that they can achieve their goals; this belief was reinforced when they were confident that they possessed the necessary strengths. Therefore, it was effective when nurses highlighted the person's strengths. For instance, nurses pointed out the person's positive qualities, internal resources, and commitment to his or her goal (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). ISUD were encouraged when they received valuable, positive feedback from the nurse (Nordfjaern et al., 2010; Pettersen et al., 2019). Moreover, ISUD noted it was helpful to be reminded of what was going well when they were down (Moltu et al., 2017). Nurses achieved this by acknowledging the individual's progression, no matter how small (Andvig & Biong, 2014; Moltu et al., 2017). Improvements did not have to focus on substance use but on other areas, such as housing or vocation (Cruce et al., 2012). Lastly, nurses summarized all that was "...learned, accomplished, and the obstacles one overcame, and adversities that were dealt with" (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012, p. 91). Celebrating these achievements reinforced that the individual can achieve goals that he or she set, further reinforcing hopefulness (Cruce et al., 2012).

#### **Maintaining Supports and Enhancing Capability**

Lastly, all the studies outline that effective interventions ensured that ISUD felt supported, had the necessary supports, and had the ability to continue to tackle challenges in their recovery

journey. Subthemes that recurred were listening and stimulating reflections, connecting and reconnecting, and practical support leading to skill acquisition.

**Listening and Stimulating Reflections.** ISUD sought out nurses as a support during challenging times; some instances were when they felt "...out of it..." (Green et al., 2015, p.36), had low mood, and periods of misuse (Cruce et al., 2012). Active listening and reflection were helpful (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016; McCallum et al., 2016; Ness et al., 2017; Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Firstly, nurses established a safe environment whereby individuals can share experiences, thoughts, and feelings. ISUD valued when nurses addressed confidentiality (Munro et al., 2017) and acknowledged the difficulty in talking about their struggles (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). For some, it might be the first occasion when they accepted having a problem with their substance use. Thus, they conveyed that there was sufficient time by taking the time to listen and not rush into care planning (Andvig & Biong, 2014; Cruce et al., 2012; Ness et al., 2017; Priebe et al., 2018). Nurses had a good sense of timing, sensing the right moment for conversation (Andvig & Biong, 2014). Nurses primarily kept the conversation light; topics of conversation involved the individual's interest and his or her everyday life (Andvig & Biong, 2014; Priebe et al., 2018). Given the suitable moment, nurses moved onto serious topics such as familial consequences brought on by substance use (Andvig & Biong, 2014). These subtle actions helped establish that the nurse was willing to support the individual.

Moreover, ISUD found it beneficial that they were able to discuss their problems (Nordfjaern et al., 2010). ISUD appreciated nurses who made a substantial effort to listen and had a good understanding of their complex history (Cruce et al., 2012; McCallum et al., 2016). It was vital to see underneath the façade and comprehensively explore the suffering (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016; Thorkildsen et al., 2015). It was favourable for suffering to be

verbalized, allowing growth (Priebe et al., 2018). Statements, questions, and stimulating reflection were valuable interventions. Reflections allowed ISUD to focus on their self, examine their life, clear the mind, and help them look forward (Andvig & Biong, 2014; Ness et al., 2017). Reflections can be geared towards an individual's thoughts. For example, nurses discussed the individual's thoughts and reactions to specific situations and increased awareness of his or her thought process (Biringer et al., 2016). It was helpful to clarify rather than criticize what was shared (Ness et al., 2017). Moreover, some individuals believed they did not have a problem, and through reflection, found that they needed to change (Biringer et al., 2016). Reflections also focused on feelings, which allowed the person to receive emotional support (Andvig & Biong, 2014). Furthermore, ISUD found it beneficial when topics that they did not contemplate were brought up (Biringer et al., 2016). Some examples were existential and spiritual topics, life themes such as relationships, family, and loneliness (Andvig & Biong, 2014). However, nurses needed to be mindful that the person was prepared to discuss such topics. It was also beneficial to ask about the motivators for the behaviour change; this helped enhance the person's motivation (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016). Lastly, nurses geared the reflection on the person's ability to cope. For example, nurses asked about coping skills, stress management, and discussed what went well, not so well, and what can be done differently in particular situations (Andvig & Biong, 2014).

Connecting and Reconnecting. ISUD found it beneficial that nurses were accessible throughout the recovery journey (Green et al., 2015; Ness et al., 2017; Velez et al., 2016). It was favourable for nurses to initially increase contact, progressively becoming less with time (Brekke et al., 2018; Nordfjaern et al., 2010). Contact was maintained through arranged meetings and activities (Cruce et al., 2012). Nurses also visited them in their communities (Biringer et al.,

2016; Velez et al., 2016). If unable to visit, calling was also appreciated (Ness et al., 2014; Ness et al., 2017). In instances where contact was diminishing and the person withdrew, nurses reached out to the person (Cruce et al., 2012; Thorkildsen et al., 2015). Reaching out demonstrated that the nurses cared and were supportive, thus, strengthening the relationship (Brekke et al., 2018). Lastly, even when the caring venture was terminated, it was helpful to follow up (Nordfjaern et al., 2010).

Alternatively, supports can be those that surround the individual, such as family, friends, and peers. However, familial relationships can be affected by substance use. Thus, an effective intervention was to reconnect ISUD to established supports. First, nurses inquired about the degree of the connection and if reconnection with family members was desired (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). If reconnection was wanted, nurses encouraged the involvement of family members (Green et al., 2015). For example, family members were invited to the facility and were offered the opportunity to take part in meetings (Biringer et al., 2016; Ness et al., 2014). On the contrary, there are ISUD that have limited social supports; an alternative approach was to increase their support system. Thus, nurses actively facilitated healthy connections (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012). ISUD found it beneficial that they were connected to their peers (Nordfjaern et al., 2010). Connections can be made by relating to other people's narratives and experiences. Thus, nurses ensured opportunities whereby ISUD can share with each other, such as groups (Pettersen et al., 2019). Encouraging participation and sharing in groups allowed for learning and connections to occur (Munro et al., 2017). Groups also allowed ISUD and their peers to process events that may occur or that had occurred (Pettersen et al., 2019). Group programming can be intimidating for some; hence, alternative excursions can be organized. For example, nurses offered various stimulating group activities, like creating art and outings (Cruce et al., 2012).

Activities provided relaxed opportunities which shifted focus on establishing bonds between individuals. Lastly, nurses invited the individual to come up with strategies to establish connections (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012).

Practical Support Leading to Skill Acquisition. ISUD outlined that talking can be inadequate; it was helpful to perform activities that improved their ability to deal with practical everyday problems (Ness et al., 2017). Support can be geared towards system navigation. It was vital that nurses worked alongside ISUD through the system (Ness et al., 2014); this decreased disorientation. For example, nurses connected with other clinicians to facilitate care (Ness et al., 2017). Nurses also supported ISUD to access substance treatment programs, rehabilitation, and aftercare (Green et al., 2015; Nordfjaern et al., 2010). System navigation included systems external to the healthcare system. It was vital to accompany individuals to activities they found helpful (Biringer et al., 2016; Brekke et al., 2018). For example, ISUD may require connecting with the social service system for financial and employment challenges (Biringer et al., 2016; Ness et al., 2017). Co-navigating systems increased their ability to traverse elaborate organizations.

It was beneficial when nurses helped create or re-establish routine in their lives (Munro et al., 2017; Ness et al., 2017). For example, nurses supported adherence to activities and meetings that ISUD followed every day (Cruce et al., 2012; Munro et al., 2017); the nurse supported the person to readjust (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016). Nurses supported ISUD to relearn the practical skills that they used every day (Ness et al., 2014; Pettersen et al., 2019). For instance, nurses accompanied ISUD shop for groceries (Biringer et al., 2016), and learn how to cook and clean (Ness et al., 2017; Nordfjaern et al., 2010). Other activities would be arranging housing and rent payment (Brekke et al., 2018). Nevertheless, nurses were mindful that they did not

impose their views on how one should live (Ness et al., 2014). Routine can also include a job or a career. ISUD found it useful to receive information and be connected to opportunities and activities that can help them prepare or return to work (Ness et al., 2017). For example, vocational courses provided the necessary work-related skill, which increased pride and confidence (Cruce et al., 2012; Munro et al., 2017). Hobbies should also be incorporated into routine as it promoted self-care. Nurses supported the development of hobbies by helping ISUD look for and participate in activities (Cruce et al., 2012; Munro et al., 2017; Ness et al., 2017); these activities helped replace the pleasurable experience that substance use offers.

Lastly, ISUD outlined that they must learn various skills that assist them in their recovery journey (McCallum et al., 2016). ISUD appreciated communication and conflict resolution skills that dealt with interpersonal issues (Andvig & Biong; 2014; Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012; Nordfjaern et al., 2010). Nurses coached ISUD to practice assertive social skills, such as learning to say no (Biringer et al., 2016; Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016). Moreover, it was beneficial to develop new coping strategies and confirm existing ones (Moltu et al., 2017). For example, ISUD appreciated learning about mindfulness, relaxation techniques, and managing negative thoughts (Biringer et al., 2016). Overall, the discussion of coping strategies must be tailored to the individual. For example, an individual revealed that it was helpful to learn about coping skills specific to each season (Pettersen et al., 2019). By supporting ISUD to navigate through the mental health system, establish routine, and generate accessible coping skills, nurses enhanced the capability of ISUD in their recovery journey.

### **Discussion**

The literature review concurrently examines the perspectives of ISUD and nurses regarding helpful interventions enacted by nurses that promote recovery for those with SUD.

This study is the first literature review focused on nursing. The review adds to the current literature on SUD, and recovery. Three overarching themes were identified by the review: person-centred care, empowerment, and enhancing supports and capability. The themes and subthemes within the review prominently overlap with the CHIME framework (Slade et al., 2012). Additionally, the assumptions and commitments of the Tidal model (Barker & Buchanan-Barker, 2005) resonate within the themes and subthemes of the review. Lastly, interventions outlined in the review coincide with skills and behaviours in the Guidelines for Recovery Oriented Practice (MHCC, 2015). Given that the review included the perspectives of ISUD and nurses, I noted powerful subthemes and interventions that were voiced from both perspectives; some of these were maintaining the humanness of the person, collaboration and promotion of autonomy, sustaining hope and future orientation, listening and stimulating reflections, and skill acquisition. Therefore, this finding is an indication that these interventions offer the most benefit and should be prioritized. Alternatively, there were some subthemes and interventions that were unique from each perspective and some rarely suggested interventions.

Frequently Mentioned Interventions From ISUD Perspective. The interventions connecting and reconnecting, system navigation, and providing information were more prominent from the ISUD perspective. Interventions that supported the reconnection of established supports and the establishment of new social supports were mentioned more often in the articles that analyzed perspectives of ISUD. Even in the study by Ness et al. (2014), which included nurses and ISUD perspectives, reconnecting with family only came from the perspective of ISUD. Connectedness is a significant theme within the CHIME framework, displaying its importance in personal recovery (Slade et al., 2012). A finding like this suggests that nurses may undervalue such interventions and should be encouraged to reflect on the

significance of social supports. Next, interventions focused on system navigation within the subtheme of practical support were also more prominent from the ISUD perspective. Depending on the severity of the illness, some individuals may require more practical support at the beginning of the recovery journey, which may explain how important it is for some ISUD. Alternatively, care providers may see this as a routine intervention and therefore did not see this as a significant intervention that promoted the individual's recovery. Lastly, another interesting finding was that ISUD discussed receiving information as a valuable intervention that supports recovery more repeatedly than care providers; this may highlight the perceived need of ISUD to be involved in the care planning process. Overall, nurses need to be attentive to specific interventions as they might be undervalued, leading to less application and potentially decreasing the effectiveness of care provided to some ISUD.

Frequently Mentioned Interventions From Nursing Perspective. Most studies that focused on the nurses' perspective discussed being accessible and being strengths-based as an effective intervention. The increased prevalence of accessibility can be explained by the idea that the nurse needs to be present in order to apply additional recovery-oriented interventions.

Conversely, nurses may have frequently utilized a strengths-based approach as they were cognizant of the challenges ISUD experienced; nurses were aware that unsuccessful efforts could lead ISUD to feel defeated. Thus, nurses may take it up as their duty to ensure that ISUD are aware of their strengths and capabilities to continue the pursuit of their goal. Nurses must scrutinize their interventions, as routinely applying interventions based on the perspective of other nurses may not be effective.

**Rarely Mentioned Interventions.** The study revealed rarely mentioned interventions that may be helpful. Withdrawal management was briefly mentioned in two studies. This might be

due to withdrawal management being a required competency when working with ISUD. Additionally, harm reduction was not mentioned throughout the studies. Harm reduction is an approach that reduces harm and consequences associated with substance use (Understanding harm reduction, 2020); it is particularly effective for those who are not focused on abstaining from substance use. Examples of harm reduction interventions are the discussion of safer ways to use and distribution of supplies used for consumption. The lack of discussion of harm reduction interventions may be due to the diverse healthcare system and political climate where the studies were based. Harm reduction is a prominent concept used throughout Canada. Intriguingly, interventions that promote spirituality were seldomly mentioned. Interventions focusing on spirituality are helpful for SUD (Hai et al., 2019). Programs rooted in spiritually such as Alcoholics Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous are routinely recommended to ISUD in practice. Shockingly, interventions focused on culture was only mentioned in the study completed by Munro et al. (2017). Only six of the possible twelve articles reported the demographic data of ISUD; of these six studies, three had a majority of Caucasian participants (Green et al., 2015; McCallum et al., 2016; Ness et al., 2017), and three had more diverse participants (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012; Munro et al., 2017; Velez et al., 2016). The Guidelines for Recovery Oriented Practice (MHCC, 2015) discusses that recovery-oriented practice requires care providers to respond to the diverse needs and culture of the individual. Moreover, the use of self-disclosure and lived experience were minimal in the studies. Although the College of Nurses of Ontario (2006) practice standard on therapeutic relationship discourages self- disclosure, ISUD outline that hearing nurses self-disclose about their lived experience, promotes the possibility of recovery, increasing hope (Munro et al., 2017). Lastly, only Brekke et al. (2018) discussed advocacy as a helpful intervention. Given the stigmatizing and challenging experience

of ISUD, advocacy is an effective intervention that promotes recovery. Advocacy may have been infrequently discussed, as advocacy was not mandatory when speaking to other care providers who may also employ recovery-oriented principles. Additionally, advocacy at a systemic level may not be easily seen by ISUD, and advocacy leading to the systemic changes may not have an immediate effect on ISUD. Given these findings, there may be uncommonly used, effective recovery-facilitating interventions.

Recommendations For Nursing Practice. The review summarizes nursing interventions that can be more effective when working with ISUD. Nurses should familiarize themselves with the previously mentioned frameworks, guidelines, and models. Nurses should apply identified effective interventions and continually reflect on the philosophical and theoretical basis of their actions, behaviours, and interventions. Conversely, nurses should be mindful that recovery is individualistic, hence, interventions should be applied as it fits the person's context; it is unrealistic to expect that all recovery-oriented practice actions will apply for each individual. Nevertheless, nurses should be mindful that there are specific interventions that ISUD find beneficial, that nurses may overlook. Nurses should consider how they apply spirituality, culture, disclosure, and advocacy in their work. Overall, interventions applied should benefit the individual's recovery.

**Limitations.** The study only included studies from 2010 to the present, which may have excluded studies that could be beneficial. Since this is a literature review, it relies on published data from previous studies and inherent limitations of those studies. Lastly, the literature review included studies that focused on concepts like collaboration and hope; this may have been too focused, altering results.

Future Directions. Overall, only one study was based in Canada and was focused on inspiration of hope. Moreover, although all the studies included nurses, only three studies exclusively focused on nursing (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016; Priebe et al., 2018; Thorkildsen et al., 2015) and none focused on effective interventions that promoted recovery. Lastly, given the recency of the recovery-oriented mental health system reform, it would be vital to explore the perspectives of either ISUD or nurses' perspectives regarding effective nursing interventions that promote recovery within the Canadian landscape. Another potential study would be to include ISUD and nurses within one study and explore if a recovery-oriented intervention enacted by a nurse was genuinely beneficial for that individual. In conjunction with this, future studies should be longitudinal. In addition to understanding what interventions by nurses effectively facilitated recovery, it would be vital to understand how such interventions facilitate recovery. Although some studies explained how effective interventions facilitate recovery, this was not consistent in all the studies. This was also suggested in the studies by De Ruysscher et al. (2017) and Leamy et al. (2011). A study focusing on how nursing interventions facilitated recovery would be rooted in the perspective of ISUD. Lastly, recovery-oriented interventions may differ depending on the setting. For example, the interventions such as performing house visits and having personal belongings visible may be inapplicable in inpatient settings. Hence, future studies should consider examining if there are specific recovery-oriented interventions that are more frequently or exclusively applied within distinct settings (inpatient, outpatient, and community).

#### Conclusion

The identification of effective nursing interventions that promote recovery is fundamental so more nurses can assist the recovery journey of ISUD. The literature review identified that

effective nursing interventions are based on person-centred care, empowerment, and enhancing supports and capability. The review highlighted interventions that were more frequently mentioned from the perspectives of nurses and ISUD and interventions that were rarely mentioned. When providing care to ISUD, nurses should ensure that their actions are based on the themes identified; this also emphasizes the importance of guidelines, frameworks and theories. Overall, nurses have an obligation to ensure that the profession moves beyond the theoretical aspect of recovery and employ actions that exemplify recovery-oriented principles. Further application of recovery-oriented practices will ensure improvement in the healthcare system, humanizing the experiences of ISUD.

Table 1

Included Articles

Author	Count	Aims	Focus (substan ce use [SUD], concurre nt [CD], general psychiat ric [GEN])	Method/Data Collection	Participan ts	Setting	Timeline
CINAHL (4	<b>4</b> )						
ISUD perspective (.							
Ness, Kvello, Borg, Semb, & Davidson (2017)	Norwa y	To explore collaborati ve practices from perspective s of CD patients	CD	Qualitative: Semi- structured interview	7 patients	Communi ty- psychiatry	One-time with follow up interview
McCallum, Mikocka-Walus, Gaughwin, Andrews, & Turnbull (2016)	Austral ia	To compare experience s of SUD and CD patients	CD	Qualitative: Cross- sectional semi structured interview	34 patients	Inpatient, outpatient , detox, communit y	One-time
Clinician's perspec	tive (2)						
Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin (2016)	Swede n	To describe how nurses working in inpatient psychiatry experience caring encounters with ISUD	SUD	Qualitative: Reflective group dialogues	6 nurses	Inpatient psychiatry	One-time
Thorkildsen,Eriks son, & Råholm (2015)	Norwa y	To gain an understanding of the core of love when caring for ISUD	SUD	Qualitative: Hermeneutic, interview	4 nurses	Detox in emergenc y	One-time
<b>MEDLINE</b>	(2)						
Patient perspective (2)							

Author	Count	Aims	Focus	Method/Data	Participan	Setting	Timeline
	ry		(substan	Collection	ts		_
	•		ce use				
			[SUD],				
			concurre				
			nt [CD],				
			general				
			psychiat				
			ric				
			[GEN])				
Priebe, Wiklund-	Swede	То	CD	Qualitative:	5 patients	Outpatient	One-time
Gustin, &	n	illuminate		Semi-		addiction	
Fredriksson		ways a		structured		clinic	
(2018)		patient		interview,			
		with CD		Hermeneutic,			
		experience		phenomenolog			
		conversatio		У			
		n with					
		nurses to					
Nordfjaern,	Norwa	be caring To	SUD	Qualitative:	13 patients	Inpatient,	One-time
Rundmo, & Hole	y	examine	300	Semi	15 patients	and	One-time
(2010)	У	negative		structured		outpatient	
(2010)		and		interview		addiction	
		positive		interview		clinic	
		perceptions				Cimic	
		of					
		treatment					
		and					
		recovery					
		from					
		perspective					
		s of ISUD					
SocINDEX	<b>(1)</b>						
Both ISUD and clin	ician's pe	rspective (1)					
Koehn, &	Canada	То	SUD	Qualitative:	7	Outpatient	One-time
Cutcliffe (2012)		examine if		Grounded	counsellor	,	with
		substance		theory, semi-	S	residential	follow up
		use		structured	3 patients	, private	interview
		counsellors		interview		SUD	
		inspire				practice	
		hope in					
A 1	, P	ISUD	(4.0)				
Academic S		Comple	te (10)				
ISUD perspective (	5)						
Biringer,	Norwa	To explore	GEN	Qualitative:	8 patients	Inpatient	Longitudi
Davidson,	у	how		Hermeneutic –		and	nal – two
Sundfør, Ruud, &		service		Phenomenolog		outpatient	interviews
Borg (2016)		users'		ical		psychiatry	,
		expectation		G .			separated
		s for		Semi-			by 27-30
		treatment,		structured			months
		goals,		interview			
		hopes for					

Author	Count	Aims	Focus (substan ce use [SUD], concurre nt [CD], general psychiat ric [GEN])	Method/Data Collection	Participan ts	Setting	Timeline
		recovery at the beginning of their contact was supported by clinicians during their treatment.					
Pettersen, Landheim, Skeie, Biong, Brodahl, Benson, & Davidson (2019)	Norwa y	To explore the experience s of those with long term SUDs and aspects they found helpful during treatment and long-term recovery	SUD	Qualitative: Semi- structured interview	18 patients (had SUD and abstinent for 5 years)	Unspecifi ed	One-time
Velez, Nicolaidis, Korthuis, & Englander (2017)	US	To explore the experience s of hospitalize d ISUD	SUD	Qualitative: interviews	32 patients	Inpatient medical and surgical unit	One-time
Cruce, Öjehagen, & Nordström (2012)	Swede n	To explore recovery promoting care as experience d by individuals with CD	CD	Qualitative: Semi- structured interviews	8 patients	Outpatient CD program	One-time with follow up interview after one- week

Author	Count	Aims	Focus (substan ce use [SUD], concurre nt [CD], general psychiat ric [GEN])	Method/Data Collection	Participan ts	Setting	Timeline
Green, Yarborough, Polen, Janoff, & Yarborough (2015)	US	To explore individual's perspective regarding their CD recovery experience	CD	Qualitative: Interviews	177 patients	Unspecifi ed	Longitudi nal - Four interviews (two at baseline, one at one- and two-year follow up)
Clinician's perspec		I m 1	CD	0.15.2	10.0		TO I
Brekke, Lien, Nysyeen, Biong (2018)	Norwa y	To explore and describe staff experience s and dilemmas in recovery-oriented practice when working with individuals with CD	CD	Qualitative: Focus groups	10 Care providers  support workers (2), mental health workers (2), peer support workers (2), specialist nurses (2), social workers (1), and psychologi sts (1).	Communi ty psychiatry	Three focus groups over two years.
Andvig & Biong (2014)	Norwa y	To describe and explore what health professiona Is focused on in recovery-oriented conversations	GEN	Qualitative: Explorative design, action research project	15 Care providers six mental health nurses, three auxiliary nurses, three social educators, two occupation al therapists	Communi ty psychiatry	One-time

Author	Count	Aims	Focus (substan ce use [SUD], concurre nt [CD], general psychiat ric [GEN])	Method/Data Collection	Participan ts	Setting	Timeline
					and one social worker		
Ness, Borg, Semb, & Karlsson (2014)	Norwa y	To identify ways in which mental health practitioner s collaborate with service users	GEN	Qualitative: Multi-staged focus group	10 care providers - 8 mental health nurses 2 SW	Communi ty psychiatry	Longitudi nal – monthly focus group over 3 months
ISUD and Clinician	ı's perspec	ctive (2)					
Munro, Allan, Shakeshaft, & Breen (2017)	Austral ia	To explore the nature and quality of therapeutic component s and relations with staff	SUD	Qualitative: semi structured interviews	12 patients 9 clinicians	3-month SUD residential program – mainly for indigenou s individual s	One-time interview at two time-points
Moltu, Stefansen, Nøtnes, Skjølberg, & Veseth (2017)	Norwa y	To explore what constitutes as a meaningful outcome in the experience s of those with long and complex mental health experience	GEN	Qualitative: Semi- structured interview  Focus group and in-depth interviews	50 participant s 18 patients (7 had CD) 12 psychiatric nurses 20 therapists	Inpatient and outpatient psychiatry	One-time

Author	Count	Aims	Focus (substan ce use [SUD], concurre nt [CD], general psychiat ric [GEN])	Method/Data Collection	Participan ts	Setting	Timeline
17 articles in total	Norwa y (9) Austral ia (2) Swede n (3) Canada (1) US (2)		4 GEN 6 CD 7 SUD	17 Qualitative	3 focused on ISUD and clinicians 5 were clinician-focused (2 nursing specific) 9 were ISUD-focused (1 nursing specific)	4 Community 5 Mix 1 Residentia 1 1 inpatient medical 1 inpatient psychiatry 2 Unspecified 1 outpatient CD program 1 outpatient addiction 1 detox	3 longitudin al studies 14 One-time point

**Table 2**Themes and Subthemes of Effective Nursing Interventions

	Person-centred care
Maintaining humanness of	Create a welcoming environment
the person	Reveal a caring attitude and readiness to help
	Have respectful and empathetic responses
	Have personal belongings
	Make diagnosis secondary to person
	Non-judgemental attitude
	Accepting potential substance use
Recovery individualized	• Extract the person's goals
-	Co-create manageable and attainable goals
	Propose holistic goals
	Be accessible and flexible
	Let person approach you
	Empowerment
Collaboration and	Promote active choice
promotion of autonomy	<ul> <li>Do not make choices on behalf of person</li> </ul>
	Share ideas and resources when requested
	• Inquire about preferred action and previous solutions
Sustaining hope and future	Convey hope to the person
orientation	• Do not concede when facing challenges
	• Inquire about aspirations
	Daydream about the past
Highlighting strengths	<ul> <li>Highlight positive qualities and commitment</li> </ul>
through feedback	• Remind the person of what is going well
	Summarize achievements
	nining supports and capability enhancement
Listening and stimulating	<ul> <li>Establish a safe environment</li> </ul>
reflections	• Sense the right moment for conversation
	<ul> <li>Allow the person to speak about their experience</li> </ul>
	Clarify rather than criticize
	<ul> <li>Gear reflections towards thoughts, feelings, and coping</li> </ul>
Connecting and	Be a support
reconnecting	Maintain contact
	<ul> <li>Re-establish connections with family and friends</li> </ul>
	• Connect the person to their peers
Practical support leading	Co-navigate multiple systems
to skill acquisition	Help create or re-establish routine
	<ul> <li>Provide information for opportunities and activities</li> </ul>
	Assist the person to gain valued skills
·	•

## **Chapter 3: Manuscript - Methodology**

## Manuscript - Methodology

This manuscript was completed during the Nursing 712: Advanced Qualitative Research course. I completed the paper about QD independently. To further nursing science, Dr. Annette Lane, Dr. Georgia Dewart, and I discussed revising and submitting the paper. It was submitted and published in the *International Journal of Nursing Student Scholarship* in December, 2020. To cover the methodology used within the thesis, I discuss different components after the presentation of the manuscript. The manuscript can be retrieved here:

https://journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/ijnss/article/view/71786/54608

Please note that the term method was used rather than methodology in the published manuscript based on the feedback from the reviewers.

Qualitative Description:

An Examination of a Methodology for Novice Nursing Researchers

Abstract

According to Bradshaw and associates (2017), a qualitative description (QD) design focuses on

describing and defining a phenomenon, answering who, what, where, and why of the experience from the particular viewpoint from those involved. Although not limited to, nurses in psychiatry, obstetrics, pediatrics, and education find QD beneficial in accessing unique perspectives as there is a limited need to employ a time-intensive, complex research approach. QD offers an accessible approach to qualitative research for many beginning nursing researchers but has been often overlooked or confused with other descriptive methodologies such as case study,

nursing profession, this paper aims to provide novice and student nursing researchers with a

phenomenology, grounded theory, and ethnography. Given the value and applicability to the

robust understanding of the QD approach to help guide their work. Drawing from the literature,

we present an in-depth overview of the approach by focusing on the purpose, guiding principles,

and methods within QD. We also provide a comparative analysis of QD in relation to other

qualitative methodologies as well as outlining the value of the OD approach for novice or

student, nursing researchers.

Key Words: Qualitative Description; Qualitative Research; Novice Researchers; Student

Researchers; Nursing

45

### **Qualitative Description:**

# An Examination of a Methodology for Novice Nursing Researchers

Multiple approaches support researchers to uncover answers to research questions. However, novice researchers may apply methodologies without understanding important components, such as theories, that underpin the approach. Uncertainty regarding the research approach may lead to findings that are incongruent with the underlying theoretical foundation, rendering a less compelling study. Moreover, beginning researchers, such as students, may feel the need to align with traditional qualitative approaches, such as phenomenology or hermeneutics, and they may feel that they are conducting a study guided by the philosophies behind either approach, and may in fact, not be doing so (Neergaard et al., 2009). Thus, it is important to carefully explore and understand a research approach that one may potentially use in research. An approach that is inadequately discussed and is often disregarded as a valid approach is qualitative description (Kim et al., 2016).

Sandelowski (2000, p.335) described qualitative description (QD) studies as "...basic or fundamental...", distinct from other qualitative approaches. QD is an accessible research approach for novice nursing researchers, such as students, to explore diverse topics of investigations rooted in the description of participant experiences or perspectives. These experiences are learned from the unique interactions between the participants that experienced such phenomena and the researcher, with their theoretical and experiential predispositions (Bradshaw et al., 2017). QD produces emic knowledge that allow others (outsiders) a unique opportunity to learn how such individuals see their world (Bradshaw et al., 2017). While QD embodies many of the same principles, research phases, and methods of data collection of other qualitative research, such as phenomenology, there are some distinct differences. Within the

paper, we will outline similarities between QD and other research methodologies and describe the differences, such as staying close to the data (direct words of participants) with minimal inferences, as well as being less theoretical than other qualitative methodologies. The fundamentals of QD will be discussed, as well as the distinct differences between QD and other methodologies that make it particularly suitable for beginning nursing researchers, such as students (Turale, 2020).

## Purpose of QD

Due to similarities with other qualitative approaches, QD can be confused with other methodologies. For example, phenomenology, grounded theory, and ethnography can be descriptive; however, such methods are not exclusively descriptive (Sandelowski, 2000).

Explicating its purpose and features can help differentiate QD from other methodologies.

Primarily, QD aims to uncover, understand, and describe a specific population's perception and experience regarding a particular phenomenon or concept of interest (Bradshaw et al., 2017;

Neergard et al., 2009). Such a phenomenon can be thought of as any situation, behaviour, event, and context (Purdy & Popan, 2018), which may profoundly impact a population. The main objective is to produce a comprehensive, yet, surface-level summary, rooted in the description of the participants' experience (Colorafi & Evans, 2016; Neergard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000; Willis et al., 2016); establishing causality is not the goal (Dulock, 1993). Researchers may identify the need for the study due to simple questions (Magilvy & Thomas, 2009) brought about by real-life issues or from a gap in the literature (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Generally, QD focuses on answering who, what, and where questions (Dulock, 1993; Kim et al., 2016; Neergard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000; Swatzell & Jennings, 2007).

Researchers may use QD to describe and define a new phenomenon, when there is insufficient

research regarding that phenomenon (Cohen & Tarzian, 2017). For example, Lane et al. (2017) conducted a QD research study due to a paucity of literature regarding the needs of family members when their aging relatives transitioned to nursing homes. OD research may be conducted to establish the foundation for interventional studies and to develop and refine interventions or questionnaires (Kim et al., 2016). For instance, Mc Auliffe and Hynes (2019) completed a QD focusing on individuals with multiple sclerosis and their occupations; this resulted in identifying a need for interventions that address daily issues stemming from cognitive challenges for people with multiple sclerosis. QD can also assist researchers to obtain a new perspective on a well-researched phenomenon (Cohen & Tarzian, 2017). This is because participants' views on a particular phenomenon can be dependent upon their profession or relationship to the healthcare system. To illustrate, nurses may have distinctive viewpoints compared to physicians, while recipients of care may view a phenomenon differently than care providers. Even within the same discipline such as nursing, the contextual background can lead to a unique perspective. For example, although self-care has been studied within nursing, the QD by Opare et al. (2020) provided a different insight on self-care, as the study sample of psychiatric nurses were situated in the community, rather than in the hospital. As such, the purposes of QD are varied and may overlap with other qualitative methodologies; recognition of its distinct features can separate it from other qualitative studies.

### **Features of QD**

Although QD researchers choose a phenomenon to study, they cannot know for certain what will emerge from the study. As with other forms of qualitative research, in QD, specific foci are usually not predetermined (Lambert & Lambert, 2012), and a hypothesis is usually not stated (Dulock, 1993). However, this does not prevent QD researchers from predicting elements

of a phenomenon and hypothesizing based on previous studies, theories, or frameworks. The defining features of QD are utilizing less inference and being less theoretical than other qualitative approaches. Due to these features, the goals of OD are different from other qualitative methodologies. Unlike ethnography, which aims to produce thick descriptions of a culture, case study, which endeavours to acquire an in depth understanding of a problem from a unique case, and grounded theory, which intends to develop theory (Creswell & Poth, 2018), QD aims to produce rich description of an event or experience (Neergaard et al., 2009). Since these rich descriptions originated from staying close to participants' words, the amount of inference is reduced. Inference, applied during the data analysis and representation phase, is defined as the "...the amount of logical reasoning required to move from a data-based premise to a conclusion." (Colorafi & Evans, 2016, p.17). QD employs lower inference levels, unlike other qualitative studies like phenomenology (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). Lower levels of inference allow findings to be grounded closer to the participants' description and increases the likelihood that readers can rationalize the findings of the study (Colorafi & Evans, 2016; Seixas et al., 2018). Thus, QD applies inductive logic and bases findings from the data rather than theory (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

As previously mentioned, an important feature of QD studies is that they are less theoretical than other qualitative research methodologies (Kim et al., 2017; Lambert & Lambert, 2012; Neergaard et al., 2009; Sandelowski, 2000). This means that it does not rely too heavily on theories and frameworks. This is a beneficial feature for novice nursing researchers, such as students, as they are not obligated to make findings "fit" with the theoretical framework. Moreover, QD studies do not have intricate philosophical backgrounds which require understanding and explication. For example, phenomenology requires the discussion between

which philosopher's viewpoint (Husserl, Heidegger, Merleau-Ponty) is utilized for the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Willis et al., 2016). Thus, allowing results in QD studies to develop without figuring out how they fit with a specific framework or theory (Kim et al., 2017; Lambert & Lambert, 2012) inspires receptiveness for findings which depend on data, rather than previously established theories or interpretations. Although QD can adopt any theoretical or philosophical lens to guide the study, QD is not attached to lenses and readily alters these at any point in the study (Colorafi & Evans, 2016; Willis et al., 2016). For example, a researcher may focus on concepts from a theory related to the phenomenon; if the preliminary findings steer toward a different concept, the researcher should alter the focus of the study to fit the emerging data instead. Thus, QD utilizes emerging design, being flexible and adapting various parts of the research process to support the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

As will be outlined in the next section, however, is that QD studies share similarities with other qualitive methodologies. For instance, QD researchers use similar methods for data collection as their counterparts utilizing other approaches; some differences can be overt. An example would be that case studies may examine multiple sources for data collection such as interviews, observations, documents, and artifacts (Creswell & Poth, 2018), whereas QD will usually gather data through only one type of data collection method such as interviews (Kim et al., 2017). QD researchers may also borrow data analysis techniques from other qualitative approaches such as grounded theory (Lambert & Lambert, 2012; Sandelowski, 2000). For example, QD can use constant comparative analysis in data analysis, which is also used in grounded theory (Sandelowski, 2000). On the contrary, some approaches like case study utilize within-case analysis which is different from what QD will use in data analysis (Creswell & Poth,

2018). Researchers utilizing QD must be aware of the differences and similarities between QD and other qualitative methodologies and be able to articulate their rationale for using QD.

### **Data Collection**

## Sampling

When considering who will participate in a qualitative study, researchers consider types of sampling and sample sizes. Similar to other qualitative methodologies, QD researchers may utilize purposive sampling. Purposive sampling is chosen as information that is "...required directly from those experiencing the phenomenon under investigation..." (Bradshaw et al., 2017, p. 1). Within this sampling strategy participants have first-hand experience with the phenomenon, the ability to communicate with the researcher, and willingness to tell their story (Magilvy & Thomas, 2009).

Researchers should also consider the number of individuals to include in the study. In one systematic review of QD, Kim et al. (2017) reported sample sizes ranging from eight to one thousand nine hundred and thirty-two. However, larger sample sizes were utilized by openended surveys while smaller sample sizes were applicable to individual interviews and focus groups (Kim et al., 2017). A consensus is that the sample size tends to be small as the importance is on what makes the experience unique rather than generalizability (Bradshaw et al., 2017).

Still, data saturation should be considered when thinking about sample size. Data saturation is the researcher's attempt to continuously interview participants until there are no new categories or information that arise from the interview (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Within QD, interviews can occur until saturation is achieved (Willis et al., 2016). However, researchers can find, that given each participant's unique perspective, data saturation may be unachievable (Bradshaw et al., 2017).

### **Data Collection Method**

Similar to other qualitative research methods, QD utilizes case studies, observations, and interviews for data collection (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Dulock, 1993; Purdy & Popan, 2018; Stangor & Walinga, 2014). Kim et al. (2017) found a majority of QD studies employed semi-structured individual interviews or focus groups. Interviewing is a helpful method that gathers and relies on the participants' reports (Seixas et al., 2018). Moreover, this is where the researchers and participants interact to co-construct knowledge (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Utilizing focus groups is beneficial when potential interactions between participants produce the best information, when participants are similar and cooperative, when there are time limitations, or when participants may be hesitant to provide information individually (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Although researchers can interview without some structure, it can be useful to have a guide to assist in the interview. When researchers engage in interviews without preparation, interviews can lead to more noise than data (Arsel, 2017). An interview protocol, a document that outlines a brief description of the study, the consent-gathering, critical points of exploration through over-arching questions, and potential probes and transitions, can support QD researchers (Arsel, 2017). Interview protocols can help researchers focus on the relevant concepts to discuss during the interview, giving a sense of control, and reigniting or redirecting conversations (Arsel, 2017). Questions in the interview protocol tend to be open-ended (Kim et al., 2017; Lambert & Lambert, 2012; Neergaard et al., 2009), which allows the researcher to capture broader viewpoints and minimizes restrictions. Questions can be constructed based on the researcher's intuition and curiosity; however, interview questions can potentially incorporate theoretical and conceptual ideas. Willis et al. (2016) outline that such theories and concepts can initially help

guide the interview questions. However, depending on responses, QD researchers are not obliged to stay within such theories and frameworks, especially if data indicates a poor fit; they can thus make changes to their interview guide (Willis et al., 2016; Vaismoradi et al., 2013). For example, illuminating descriptions may be brought up by participants that researchers did not consider, and thus, researchers can utilize these descriptions and knowledge gained through interviews to guide and revise their questions. If theories are utilized for the conceptual framework, it is important to ensure that this is visible within a section of the paper. Contrastingly, revision of the interview protocol can also occur before data collection. Yin (2014, as cited in Creswell & Poth, 2018) argued that before data collection, researchers should pilot test their interview protocol to refine it. Generally, data collection and data analysis are intertwined in an iterative circle that continuously reverts between each step; thus, researchers will continue to refine their interview protocol as they analyze data (Arsel, 2017).

## **Data Analysis**

Researchers utilizing QD employ either Thematic Analysis (TA) or Qualitative Content Analysis (QCA) to complete their data analysis (Bradshaw et al., 2017). A profound distinction is that TA is interpretive and therefore employs a higher level of inference whereas, QCA tends to apply lower levels of interpretation, being less abstract (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). As QCA is less inferential, it is generally preferred with QD studies (Kim et al., 2017). The aim and activities of the data analysis are similar regardless of the tool used (Vaismoradi et al., 2013). QCA and TA examine collected data by employing a systematic coding and categorizing approach, to illuminates themes (Vaismoradi et al., 2013). Colorafi and Evans (2016) proposed the following steps for data analysis: (1) create a coding framework; (2) format transcribed documents to include spaces for codes and memos; (3) apply the first level of coding; (4)

categorize codes and apply the second level of coding; (5) revise and redefine codes; (6) add memos; (7) visualize data; and (8) represent the data. Contrastingly, the researcher can apply the first level of coding on the first few transcripts and develop a coding framework based on the codes. Data collection, and analysis occur simultaneously as part of an iterative and recursive process (Colorafi & Evans, 2016; Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Coding, core to qualitative data analysis, is the process of assigning a label to a portion of text that reflects an idea (Miles et al., 2014). Creswell and Poth (2018) suggested applying lean coding; starting with a shortlist, only expanding the list when necessary, and having no more than a final twenty-five to thirty code list. After applying the initial level of coding, the researcher reviews the codes, clusters similar codes, and applies a more abstract label, identified as a theme (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). While coding, researchers may find themselves revisiting, rechecking, and revising codes and definitions; this continues throughout the data analysis.

Although QD researchers readily apply induction to ground the data's findings, coding requires inferences, which necessitates QD researchers to also apply deduction. The induction-deduction dependent role of researchers continues into the data representation.

Throughout the data analysis phase, the use of a coding framework can help clarify the thought process of the researcher. A coding framework can initially include a priori codes, codes based on theories, literature, and preliminary data (Creswell & Poth, 2018). However, a priori codes can limit the analysis to the pre-identified codes rather than the insights of the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Researchers can also include the name, definitions, and examples of each code within a coding framework (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). This can rationalize the connection of data to the code to other researchers and readers. After a researcher transcribes the documents, Agar (1980, as cited in Creswell & Poth, 2018) outlined that it might be beneficial to

read the transcripts multiple times to immerse oneself in the data. During this immersion, adding memos may be useful rather than after coding has taken place. Memos outline the researcher's insights that capture initial ideas, elucidate how concepts evolved and how insights were integrated (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Memoing clarifies the researcher's thinking process, acting as an audit trail throughout the research process (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Reflexivity is important in all qualitative research, including QD (Vaismoradi et al., 2013; Willis et al., 2016). Reflexivity is a process whereby researchers engage in continuous critical reflection throughout the research process which document their thought process, actions, and choices taken (Orange, 2016; Ortlipp, 2008). While this will be discussed, in greater detail later in the paper, briefly, this involves researchers understanding how their background (work, history, culture) influences their interpretation of the data (Creswell & Poth, 2018), and involves documenting their thoughts in research diaries or memos (Woo, 2019).

## **Data Representation**

QD presents its findings in a straightforward logical manner, usually through summarization (Kim et al., 2017; Lambert & Lambert, 2012). Summaries are presented in simple, easy to understand, everyday language (Sandelowski, 2000), encompassing the description of the participants' experiences and perceptions, and echoes the participant's language (Neergaard et al., 2009). The use of simple language and the participant's language make the findings easy to comprehend. Various ways to present the data are through the chronology, prevalence of themes, broad to a specific focus, timeline-based, or through multiple perspectives (Sandelowski, 2000). Overall, the synthesis of data representation varies depending on the findings of the study; however, this can also differ depending on the researcher

conducting study. Hence, it is also essential to discuss how QD researchers can enhance trustworthiness.

### **Trustworthiness**

Rigour is normally used to describe quantitative research and uses terms such as internal validity and generalizability (Bhattacherjee, 2012). However, due to differing ontological and epistemological assumptions, internal validity, and generalizability do not apply (Bhattacherjee, 2012). As such, qualitative studies aim to establish trustworthiness by using confirmability, dependability, credibility, and transferability (Hanson et al., 2011; Morrow, 2005). Generally, QD strives to achieve confirmability, credibility, and transferability (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Vaismoradi et al., 2013).

Confirmability is the researcher's attempt to minimize subjectivity and acknowledge that objectivity is difficult to achieve (Morrow, 2005). Credibility is the establishment of how believable the findings of the study are (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). However, as QD bases the findings from the data gathered in the interview rather than applying conforming data to theory, it has a much easier time than other qualitative methodologies in establishing credibility.

Transferability, the ability to apply findings of the study to other settings or studies, may be enhanced by providing detailed, thick descriptions of the participants and the setting (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). By providing this, readers can employ analytic generalization, identifying similarities and differences between their own and the study's context, and identify if the findings can be adopted in their areas of practice (Clark & Vealé, 2018).

Although qualitative researchers attempt to be neutral and bias-free, they cannot achieve full objectivity as each individual carries theoretical preferences and experiences, which impact how we see and interpret the world (Arsel, 2017). Within QD, the researcher is the main

instrument that collects, analyzes, and interprets the data (Clark & Vealé, 2018). Their experiences and context concerning the research, impact how the study is completed. Thus, researchers can discuss their positionality, social position, experiences, beliefs and assumptions (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

### **Practices to Enhance Trustworthiness**

There are practices to enhance the trustworthiness of the findings in qualitative research, including QD. These include the researchers discussing their positionality, as well as practices used by researchers to enhance reflexivity.

Positionality should be revealed at the beginning of the study as it highlights ethical challenges such as accessing sites and participants. For example, researchers may not belong to the participant's culture or background and may have difficulties with building trust. Such factors may warrant the use of gatekeepers, individuals who can permit the connection between the researcher and participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Practices to enhance reflexivity include addressing biases by maintaining a reflexive journal. Although biases cannot be entirely removed from a study, researchers can minimize this in QD through attentiveness to the perspectives of participants as well as the impact of the research process. Other things to consider within reflexive journals are what questions to ask participants and also, to identify interventions to use if adverse instances arise during the interviews. During data collection and data analysis, researchers may reflect on the impact of the interview questions on the participants (Pietkiewicz & Smith, 2014) and if the interview questions contribute or prevent answering the research question. When publishing and representing data, researchers can reflect on how the findings may influence the study site and participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Remaining reflexive can help produce solutions such as

masking participants' identity due to confidentiality and reframing negative findings as challenges or areas of improvement (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Besides journaling, there are other practices that can enhance reflexivity. Going back to the original data (e.g., transcripts) can also help the researcher remain true to the data to ensure that findings are consistent with participants' perspectives (Probst, 2015). Researchers can employ triangulation and member checking (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). Triangulation can be described as drawing from multiple sources, methods, and theories to ensure that findings are comprehensive (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Depending on the study, QD researchers may employ any of the four triangulation strategies: data triangulation, investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and methodological triangulation (Salkind, 2010). For example, QD can involve multiple researchers in data collection and analysis through investigator triangulation; this helps audit the consistency of data, minimizing bias (Salkind, 2010). Another way to increase credibility is to utilize member checking to solicit participant feedback regarding the findings and interpretation (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Member checking is crucial as it allows the researcher to verify if the findings make sense or if there was a deviation from the participant's perspective. Overall, engaging in such activities can help increase confirmability.

Reflexivity also allows the researcher to consider the ethical implications throughout the research process (Creswell & Poth, 2018), especially when working with vulnerable populations. This can be challenging for researchers, but important. Dahlke et al. (2015) engaged in participant observation of nurses working with older, hospitalized adults. Reflexivity involved remaining or exiting difficult situations with patients. For instance, changes in a patient's comfort level or in the physical health of an older patient, required reflexivity on the part of the researcher to respond ethically and sensitively to situations. Although these patients had

provided consent to participate, she withdrew in one situation, and in another, moved to the background of the situation. Reflexivity also involved navigating complexities of securing informed consent among patients, family members and frequently changing health care providers. When patients would choose to give verbal consent but not written consent, nurses' work with them was not included in the data.

Other challenges to enhancing reflexivity involve the time invested in this activity; the time required may not work with professional timelines to finish a project. Also, while researchers may value reflexivity in theory, both the practice and evaluation of reflexivity remains challenging (Probst, 2015). The ability to assess a researcher's reflexive practice leads into other critiques that QD faces within the research community.

#### Limitations

QD is often criticized for its lack of credibility, as well as its similarities with other qualitative methodologies (Neergard et al., 2009). Sandelowski (2000) described that descriptive research is often considered one of the lesser forms of research design. Yet even with these concerns, Neergaard et al. (2009) supports the use of QD as an appropriate method for researchers, especially those who are interested in establishing a clearer phenomenological description. Thus, these critiques are not limitations or a reason to not pursue QD research. Instead, they serve as a reminder for researchers to clearly articulate methodological underpinnings and to remain attentive to trustworthiness.

#### Conclusion

QD is a reliable qualitative descriptive approach that novice nursing researchers, such as students, can employ to study phenomena, experiences, and perspectives. It differentiates itself from other qualitative methodologies, such as phenomenology, by being less inferential and less

theoretical. QD focuses on describing the who, what, where, and why of the experience which is different from the aims of grounded theory (to develop theory), ethnography (to understand and describe culture), phenomenology (to comprehensively describe lived experiences), and case study (to explore process). By not being caught up in the complexities of theories, philosophies, and deduction, beginning nursing researchers can easily initiate a QD study. By limiting the need to learn and employ time-intensive complex research approaches, nurses in multiple specialties, such as psychiatry, obstetrics, pediatrics, and education have utilized OD. Furthermore, in addition to QD being an easy approach to use, it is applicable to numerous research questions, makes the findings easy to connect with the data, and offers flexibility with the application of theory. QD often utilizes purposeful sampling and semi-structured interviews. QD can adopt either TA and QCA for data analysis and represent findings in simple, straightforward language. Lastly, it employs strategies based on confirmability, credibility, and transferability to establish trustworthiness. The examination of varying components of QD can help ensure congruence throughout the research process, making a case for a more effective research study. Overall, novice nursing researchers should not abstain from QD as it is a valid qualitative research approach that offers multiple benefits for those new to research.

## **Specifics of Project Methodology**

This following section discusses the methodology employed to obtain the findings within the thesis. Below, I discuss the study design, study population, data collection, data analysis, trustworthiness, ethical considerations, and limitations.

### Study Design

The study utilized QD to draw upon the perspective of nurses. QD is an approach that can answer the proposed research question as QD aims to uncover, understand, and describe a specific population's perception and experience of a particular phenomenon or concept of interest (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Neergard et al., 2009).

Interpretive Framework. Interpretive framework is important to a research study as it sets a philosophical precedent and helps align different components within the research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I chose QD as a methodology and discuss the underlying ontological and epistemological assumptions when utilizing social constructivism as an interpretive framework. Although QD is less theoretical than other qualitative research approaches, I believe that QD utilizes social constructivism as an interpretive framework with ontological and epistemological assumptions. Ontology can be described as how one views reality and is concerned about what constitutes reality (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Creswell & Poth, 2018). Ontologically, QD assumes that reality is socially constructed, is context-specific, and changes over time (Plack, 2005); thus, there are multiple realities (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Even if there is a unique phenomenon of concern, experiences can vary depending on the individuals and population involved. Epistemology is concerned about what suffices as knowledge and how knowledge is created, justified and revealed (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Creswell & Poth, 2018). Epistemologically, QD assumes that there is no such thing as objective knowledge and that the

truth is relative, based on the subjective interpretations and experiences of individuals participating in the study (Gephart, 1999). The individual's knowledge is based on complex interactions between their context, experiences, and interpretations. Consequently, QD researchers attempt to retrieve and illuminate this subjective knowledge that can only come from the participants. Moreover, much like the participants, researchers also have subjective knowledge, which influences how knowledge is retrieved, co-constructed, and reproduced (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Overall, researchers must be aware of their role and contribution to research, especially during the data collection and data analysis.

### Study Population

**Sampling.** I utilized purposeful sampling. As QD samples are often small and this is a master's level study, I targeted five to eight inpatient nurses at an academic teaching psychiatric hospital.

Participant Recruitment. I requested that managers send out an email with the invitation to participate in addition to the recruitment posters for participants. I also requested that managers send a reminder email (using the email reminder script) to the teams, 1-2 weeks after the initial email had been sent. Within the invitation to participate and recruitment posters, participants were asked to connect with me via email or phone if they wanted to participate. Participants were required to meet all inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion and exclusion criteria were reviewed with each participant during the initial contact with the condition that all criteria must be met.

The participant inclusion criteria were:

- 1. Age between 18 and 64 years, inclusively;
- 2. Must be a practicing Registered Practical Nurse (RPN) or Registered Nurse (RN);

- 3. Must have provided care to ISUD
- 4. Be able to provide written informed consent;
- 5. Be willing to comply with study procedures;
- 6. Be able to communicate in English;
- 7. Be able to utilize the video conferencing platform of Webex.

Participants were also assessed to meet the following exclusion criteria:

- 1. Belongs to a discipline other than Nursing;
- 2. Practicing Nurse Practitioners;
- 3. Have not provided care to ISUD.

The initial recruitment included two inpatient units that specialized in providing care to ISUD. However, due to difficulties with participant recruitment, I expanded recruitment to include four additional psychiatric units and the amendment of the inclusion criteria.

Recruitment challenges may have stemmed from the emergence of Coronavirus disease, resulting in rapid changes to the healthcare system, and workforce fatigue. Recruitment started on June 9th, 2021 and ended on September 10th, 2021. This resulted in the recruitment of four participants for the study.

Consent. When participants expressed that they wanted to participate, I contacted them and utilized the initial email contact script and/or initial telephone script. I retrieved the expressed consent to communicate via email and pertinent information for the master list. I also ensured that the participants met the inclusion criteria. Afterwards, I scheduled the informed consent meeting and provided participants with a link to a read-only copy of the Informed Consent Form (ICF) via REDCap prior to conducting the consent discussion. The link could be used by participants as many times as they wished (it was not single use). Upon clicking the link,

participants could review the landing page, and continue to the ICF text. The entire contents of the ICF was displayed according to the Research Ethics Board (REB) approved consent form, except the signature/attestation page(s).

At the scheduled Informed consent meeting, I reviewed the consent form with the participant. Following the consent discussion, the prospective participant was sent a link to the econsent via email. The participant completed the e-consent. I then completed the Informed Consent process checklist. Following the participant signature, I completed the Person Conducting Consent Discussion Attestation Page. PDF copies of the signed ICFs and Attestation pages were retained in the REDCap File Repository. I provided the participant with a copy of the fully signed ICF via email. Then, I scheduled the data collection meeting via a Webex meeting invite which included the Webex email script. Webex by Cisco (see https://www.webex.com/) is the approved web conferencing platform at the hospital.

### Data Collection

Given limitations posed by COVID 19, data was collected virtually (through Webex) using semi-structured interviews. Interviews were one hour in length. Interviews were audio and video recorded for transcription purposes. For the study, an interview protocol was utilized. I pilot tested and sought feedback regarding the interview tool from nurses who had experience in addiction and the leadership of the program and incorporated any suggested changes prior to using with the four participants. Additionally, after the first interview, I reviewed the interview protocol, the approach, and data collected with my supervisor and refined the interview protocol to complete the remaining interviews.

## Data Analysis

After the data was collected, I listened and reviewed the recorded interviews.

Additionally, I transcribed the interviews which helped with the data analysis. I utilized

Qualitative Content Analysis (QCA) for the proposed study due to the application of lower levels of interpretation and less inference which allows for the findings to be rooted in the participants perception (Kim et al., 2017). To aid in this process, I utilized the NVivo12 by QSR International (see www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/home) software.

### **Trustworthiness**

Previously in this thesis, I discussed my positionality as part of ensuring trustworthiness. Further, I utilized bracketing (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I also engaged in reflexivity (Vaismoradi et al., 2013; Willis et al., 2016) during the study and utilized coding in vivo and used quotes in data representation. Although I offered member checking, none of the participants were interested in this. To increase transferability, I included detailed and thick descriptions of the participants and the setting.

### **Ethical Considerations**

I completed the Tri-Council Policy Statement 2 in preparation for this study (Canadian Institutes of Health Research et al., 2018). A REB approval was received from Athabasca University. Once ethics approval was granted, I received approval from the REB of the academic psychiatric teaching hospital.

Data was stored in a password-protected file on the principal investigator's computer.

Any hardcopies of data have been stored in a locked filing cabinet. All recordings were password protected. The computer is password protected and will be safely stored at all times. Data will be retained for 5 years after the completion of the study, and then destroyed.

**Compensation.** I included a lottery of one twenty-dollar gift card to Starbucks for those that chose to participate in the study. This was a gesture of goodwill and appreciation of participation.

Managing Risk. There were minimal physical, social, and economic risks involved by participating in the study. However, there could have been psychological and spiritual risks. The risks were due to the author requesting participants to think about their experiences in the past.

These can include traumatizing and non-positive experiences which can impact their emotional state. If any psychological or spiritual risks had arisen, I would have immediately connected participants to the CAMH principal investigator, who is a licensed Nurse Practitioner with extensive clinical experience, who could then conduct an assessment and implement interventions. Interventions could have included providing participants with a list of organizational supports for employees or crisis resources. If there was an extreme risk, interventions might have included the principal investigator and I contacting emergency services to provide support to the participant. However, no risks emerged in the data collection.

### Limitations

Due to the contextualized uniqueness of the research site, it would be difficult to generalize the findings of the study. What may work for nurses in the hospital study setting may not necessarily work for other nurses in other settings. For example, the addiction units usually work with individuals that are voluntary under the Mental Health Act. This may hamper transferability of findings to units with involuntary clients. Moreover, given the chosen participants, it would be limited to the nurses' perception and may not reflect the perception of ISUD. Thus, ISUD may not perceive the findings to be useful to them. Additionally, due to the small number of participants, the knowledge produced was limited to the information provided

by the participants. Thus, there may be other effective interventions that were not discussed in the study, due to the small sample size. Given that I conducted research in the hospital where I work, this introduces bias. Firstly, given the self-reporting nature of the interview, there may have been recall bias. Recall bias accounts for the variance in participant response which depends on the participant's motivation, memory, and ability to respond (Bhattacherjee, 2012). For example, were the nurses participating in this interview during a busy work shift or after a night shift? To counteract this, I attempted to schedule a time that worked for the participant. Secondly, the study was also exposed to social desirability bias, the act of providing anticipated answers to act in a socially desirable manner to avoid negative opinions (Bhattacherjee, 2012). For example, participants could have provided all the "right" answers to demonstrate that they abide by the best nursing addiction practice. To limit this, I acknowledged my position within the institution and discussed confidentiality; I had a researcher lens on rather than an educator lens and informed participants that what was said and by whom during the interview would not be shared with the institution. Additionally, I highlighted that the purpose was to look at what were effective recovery-oriented nursing interventions rather than deficits in practice.

### **Chapter 4: Findings**

Within this chapter, I will discuss the demographics of the research participants and discuss the findings of the study. Research participants discussed how they utilized effective recovery-oriented interventions. (Please note that although the word client is used within this section, it is interchangeable with the term patient, person, or individual. The term patient is typically what is being used in the hospital inpatient setting). Based on the interviews, findings were broken down to highlight the participants' view of recovery, theoretical and practical approaches applied when caring for ISUD, and interventions rooted in the themes: personcentred, empowerment and promotion of hope, and a holistic approach.

## **Demographics**

In total, there were four participants between the ages of 23 and 39 that took part in the study (See Table 3). There were two male participants, one female participant, and one non-binary participant. Three participants had their RN license and one was a RPN who was completing their Bachelor of Nursing degree. Three participants worked in addiction specific inpatient units and one participant worked in a general psychiatric inpatient unit. Two out of the three RNs had their Canadian Nurses' Association (CNA) psychiatric certification. Participants had between 3 to 9 years of experience working with ISUD.

### **View of Recovery**

Given the diverse definitions and approaches when thinking of recovery, participants were asked how they viewed recovery. This helped identify if there was a definition of recovery that resonated with nurses who work with ISUD. The study reveals that participants view recovery as a process with general goals rooted in abstinence (Participants 1, 2, 3, 4) or harm

reduction (Participants 2, 3, 4), and it is largely driven by the person receiving care (Participants 2, 3, 4).

**Table 3**Participant Characteristics

	Participant 1	Participant 2	Participant 3	Participant 4
Age	28	39	23	34
Gender	Male	Female	Male	Non-Binary
RN or RPN	RN	RN	RPN	RN
CNA psychiatric certification	Yes	None	None	CNA certification
Workplace (Addiction specific or General psychiatry)	Addiction Specific	Addiction Specific	Addiction Specific	General Psychiatry
Length of time working with ISUD	5 years	9 years	3 years	4 years
Additional Education	Addiction courses Sublocade Certification	Motivational Interviewing	Psychiatric Certifications	Motivational Interviewing (MI)

## Recovery as a Process

Participants discussed how they viewed recovery and how it gets integrated into the care of ISUD. Participants identified that recovery is a continuous process that ISUD go through.

Participant 1 outlined:

Recovery I think, is a whole process, all about getting back to normal state, or normal functioning of the person. It is a continuous, lifelong process that clients go through. It involves mental, physical, psychosocial components of the client.

Many factors may contribute and influence an individual's recovery goals and what the person identifies as essential to their recovery. Thus, there is variability with how recovery is viewed throughout the recovery journey. Participant 3 discussed the fluid and non-linear nature of recovery:

Um, I'd say it's not like a linear process, like uh, maybe there's steps to recovery you know, but it's not, you start with taking a step and may have a relapse, that's ok, that's part of the process. I think that process is different for everybody, there's no one clear view of recovery the way it is.

### General Goals

When thinking about recovery, ISUD can have diverse goals. For some, it is getting back to a *normal functioning*; it might be rooted in their physical state. For example, Participant 1 discussed the withdrawal process as substances have contributed to an altered physical state:

In my experience, their recovery, part of the recovery is them. You know, going through the withdrawal process and then getting back to a normal state of their health. And, I feel like the clients I had in the past, uhm even in Medical Withdrawal Services (MWS), it's very acute in there so they think about recovery, they think about to go through withdrawal process.

However, there is a need to go beyond the physical needs of the person, treating more than one aspect, and having a holistic view. Participant 2 discussed how a team can work with an ISUD holistically:

...we have family medicine addiction doctors...where they might deal with the biological treatment of addiction.... we also have psychiatrists who might deal with the psychological effects of addiction...as well as Social Worker (SW) and Occupational Therapist (OT), there's a whole team to treat the whole picture, a holistic picture of the client versus just a biological intervention. So, the social part is getting them connected in the community, having families as a part of their care, whoever they define as their family. Just making sure that the three pieces are all treated. Because if one, if their care is missing in one of those domains...then the chances that they...their recovery is not successful is higher if we don't treat the whole picture.

Although ISUD have diverse goals, recovery goals can focus on substance use due to its positive and negative impacts on one's life. Some ISUD can opt to try to completely stop using substances (abstinence) and some may decide to take a harm reduction approach. All four participants discussed exploring the client's preference regarding this. Participant 4 outlines this approach:

I find engaging them in a discussion and specifically in the context of substance use, uhm...you know there's a lot of clients who may define recovery for themselves as abstinence and then there's a lot of clients who may take a harm reduction approach.

### Person Driven

Lastly, participants (Participants 2, 3, 4) highlighted the importance of letting ISUD guide their care and recovery. It is imperative to explore what recovery means for the person and to identify their goals. Although the nurse may have a view of recovery or what can be helpful for the individual, the participants identified that it is imperative for the individual to guide the

whole care journey. Additionally, it accounts for the diverse views, goals, and experiences of individuals. Participant 4 explicated the following:

So, I think the important thing about recovery is that it's not about how I view it as a nurse, it's about how each individual client views their own recovery and they're the ones who define it for themselves. It looks different for everyone but like from a working point of view, meeting people where they are, making them be...I don't know, letting them define what recovery is for them?

## **Theory or Approaches**

All participants discussed diverse theories, approaches, and perspectives that they apply when caring for ISUD. Theories and approaches include the biopsychosocial model and concurrent disorder, destignatizing approach, trauma-informed approach, stages of change and Motivational Interviewing (MI), and harm reduction.

## Biopsychosocial Model and Concurrent Disorder Approach

Participant 2 discussed using a holistic approach that targets the biological, psychological, and social aspects of an individual. Two participants discussed that nurses "wear a lot of hats" and Participant 3 explained the following:

Yeah, we are there all the time, if they need, we manage their medical needs, their mental health needs as well. We are just there all the time. That's what I mean by we wear many hats. Sometimes, we are even your rec(reational) therapist when we take you out for passes. Maybe a little bit of SW when you have issues with your housing, or you know people want to talk about their money and what not. They tell us their medical concerns that we can relay to the hospitalist or their mental health issue to their psychiatrist. I think

in that sense we wear a lot of hats, and other disciplines are a bit more narrow compared to what we do.

Coinciding with the biopsychosocial model, Participant 4 discussed utilizing a concurrent disorder approach when working with ISUD. Participant 4 provided their view on this:

Well by definition concurrent disorders is that they often coexist together and I don't think the connection is really fully understood but it's kind of like theorized that either the symptoms of the mental health condition can cause the person to seek refuge in using substances as a way of coping. But also, that people who use substances can sometimes develop mental health challenges as a result. It's not really teased out yet the exact relationship.

## De-stigmatizing Approach and Lived Experience

Participant 4 also discussed a de-stigmatizing approach and engages in de-moralizing substance use within their work setting. Interestingly, Participant 4 also discussed their lived experience with a mental health disorder, although it was not a substance use disorder.

Participant 4 outlined that some of the skills that they learned in the outpatient program are similar interventions that they may utilize with ISUD and their lived experience may make providing education easier.

## Trauma-Informed Approach

Participant 2 further discussed that the concept of gender as it intertwines with trauma.

Additionally, Participant 2 discussed utilizing a trauma informed approach:

So, trauma informed is recognizing that trauma is kind of...recognizing and appreciating that...(unintelligible) walks through our door has some kind of trauma that is going to

influence the way that they receive care...so it's about respecting patient's wishes, being a safe space for them to come and talk and seek treatment.

## Stages of Change and Motivational Interviewing (MI)

Although it doesn't guide their practice, Participant 2 also spoke about the utilization of stages of change, a commonly used concept when caring for ISUD. Additionally, participants (Participants 2, 3, 4) discussed utilizing MI, although this is not an approach that they have been certified in or would consider themselves proficient.

### Harm Reduction

Lastly, three participants spoke about the utilization of harm reduction within their practice. Although Participant 3 didn't discuss harm reduction as a concept, they discussed how harm reduction influenced them to pursue a career in psychiatry and work with ISUD.

Participant 4 outlined harm reduction as a philosophy:

Harm reduction is like, I guess it's a philosophy where instead of taking hardline approach, to what we believe clients' recovery should look like, we're doing things that minimize harm for the client and accomplishes their goals. So like, for one client, and that could be different from one client to client, for one person it might be like instead of using uhm... meth every day, I'm gonna use it like only on the weekends. For another client, it might look like – I'm just gonna have a naloxone kit and that's what I am ok with.

The participants discussed the overall goal of minimizing the harm of substance use and its consequences by providing interventions such as safe alternatives like opioid agonist treatment, monitoring use in safe consumption sites, and preventing complications and death by providing naloxone kits and harm reduction supplies. Overall, participants discussed multiple approaches,

theories, and perspectives that impact their nursing interventions. The following section discusses the themes and subthemes that reflected the identified effective nursing interventions that supported the recovery of ISUD.

## **Effective Nursing Intervention Themes**

### Person-Centred Care

All participants outlined that ISUD become a focal point of the caring interaction and it was very important for nurses to be person-centred. Recurrent subthemes were focused on the development of a therapeutic relationship and the co-creation of a care plan (See Table 4).

**Establishing a Therapeutic Relationship.** An essential component in the beginning of the inpatient stay is to establish a relationship with the individual receiving care. This is fundamental in order for further interventions to occur. Not establishing a relationship can lead to consequences to the inpatient stay. Participant 1 explained the following:

So I think what really helped is first, establishing relationship with the client. And once you establish relationship with the client, you eventually get to have a meaningful discussion with the client. Some of the clients may even engage and talk to you about their past history, their addiction, the substance, how much they are taking, I noticed that some clients as well in my past experience, if you don't establish a good rapport or good relationship with the client, the client may not engage with you in a conversational or meaningful discussion. And it's hard to identify what their goals are, or what kind of substances they're coming off, or how much they're taking, it makes it harder for the nurses and as well for the team as well.

Although the nurse attempts to establish the relationship when the patient gets admitted, participants discussed that this happens throughout the inpatient stay which can lead to a stronger

 Table 4

 The Theme and Subthemes Within Person-Centred Care

	Person-Centred Care		
Establishing a therapeutic	General Nursing Approaches	Welcoming and friendly	
relationship		Introduction	
		Avoid medical jargon	
		Avoid wearing uniform	
		Notice the small things	
		Acknowledge and applaud decision to come	
		Validate hardship	
		Ensure confidentiality, privacy, honesty, transparency, empathy, and nonjudgmental approach	
		Being available	
		Dedicate time	
	Talking to the Person	Establishes rapport, further interventions, reflection, motivates	
		Open ended, probing, answering questions	
		Focus on experience	
		Validate experience	
		Gently persuade	
		Subtle rather than direct approach	
		Provide feedback	
		Gauge when the person is ready	
		Maintain open communication when guarded	
Co-creation of a care plan	Goal Identification	Do not enforce treatment or goals they're not seeking	
		Allow patient to set goals	

Person-Centred Care		
		Set a plan for admission
		Identify goals – substance related
		Focus on life goals
		Post admission goals
		Support goal attainment
	Collaboration	Offering information
		Asking feedback about care plan

therapeutic connection. To establish a therapeutic relationship, participants discussed interventions that were considered general nursing approaches including talking to the person.

General Nursing Approaches. All participants discussed standard nursing approaches that they apply. First, participants outlined that it can be helpful to be welcoming and being friendly. Nurses can introduce themselves, not use uniforms but dress in street clothes, and avoid using medical jargon. Sometimes it can be noticing the small things that the client appreciates and using that as a starting point for conversations. Participant 2 provided an example:

...kind of therapeutic sharing, whether they come in wearing a Raptors hat...talk about the Raptors a little bit, talk to them as a person and not as a patient or whatever number is on their ID band.

By focusing on the interests of the person, they can feel as if they're an individual not so different from the care provider (Participant 2). It was also helpful to acknowledge and applaud the client's decision to come in to get help (Participant 2). Doing so encourages them and allows the person to believe that staff want the best for them (Participant 2). Validating hardships that previously took place can also be helpful (Participant 2).

When caring for ISUD, they intentionally ensure confidentiality (Participant 1), privacy (Participants 1 and 3), honesty and transparency (Participants 2 and 4), and utilize empathy

(Participants 1 and 2) and a non-judgemental attitude (Participants 4). Participants 2 and 4 outlined that these approaches can be helpful to lessen the power imbalance existing within the nurse-client therapeutic relationship. A prominent intervention that all the participants discussed is being available throughout the 24-hour day to individuals for which they provide care. Participant 2 outlined the following:

So, uhm...like the allied health is there 8 hours a day, and nurses are there 24 hours a day so...you know problems don't only happen in the 8 hours the doctors are there, or the SW is there. We are the first contact for everything, every hour of the day. So even if they want to talk to a SW, they talk to a nurse first, if they want to talk to doctor, they talk to nurse first. We are always that go between. We are available 24/7.

Being available and accessible means that the nurse is generally the first person ISUD access throughout their inpatient stay (Participants 2 and 3). This allows nurses to build rapport, understand the contextual background of the inpatient admission, and discuss the individual's needs (all participants). Additionally, Participant 3 discussed that nurses are the "eyes and ears" of the care team due to increased availability and presence. This allows nurses to notice more medical, social, and psychological concerns than other interdisciplinary care team members (Participant 3). However, being available is not enough and nurse should intentionally create space and time for interaction. Participants 1, 2, and 4 discussed that they dedicate specific time to spend with the individual, to ensure that they see ISUD frequently throughout their shift. When spending time with the patient, talking to the person about various topics can help advance the therapeutic relationship.

*Talking to the Person.* The subtheme of talking to the person is the act of dedicating the time and space to have ongoing conversations with the person. All participants outlined that this

is an effective intervention when working with ISUD. Talking to the person is helpful to continue establishing rapport, allowing for further interventions to be implemented, encouraging self-reflection, and can help motivate the person in their recovery journey (Participant 1).

Interventions can focus on common techniques such as using open-ended questions, probing questions (Participant 4), and answering questions (Participant 3). Participants discussed that it can be helpful to focus the conversation on various things. One strategy is to let the person verbalize their experience (Participants 1 and 3). Initial discussions can be solely focused on substances and individual experiences can be neglected. Thus, it is vital to let the individual have space to speak about aspects that they may want to speak about and let them verbalize their needs. When discussing experiences, it can be helpful to validate challenging situations (Participants 1 and 2). When talking to ISUD, participants discussed having specific intentions for the conversation. For example, discussions can focus on gently persuading ISUD to think about and make healthier choices. Participant 3 discussed meeting individuals where they are at:

So I think meeting people where they are, you know providing the support make some healthy choices, little bit safer, and kind of use that gentle persuasion, maybe planting seed of abstinence later on – that's probably more effective than cold turkey or if you know what I'm saying?

Another example would be to use conversations to have a subtle rather than a direct approach when speaking about options. A way that this can be done is to discuss consequences of options (Participants 2 and 4). Another focus can be on providing feedback to the patient (Participants 1, 2, and 3). Feedback can emphasize various aspects such as the individual's negative self-talk or their progress.

Individuals may have varying mental or emotional states when they come into the inpatient unit. These can be based on potential intoxication or withdrawal states. Although nurses may need to conduct specific assessments, they must gauge if the person is ready to engage in the conversation and delay assessments or interventions as needed (Participants 2, 3, and 4). Participant 4 outlined a helpful approach when individuals present with altered mental states:

So, you can kind of give people reasonable expectations if I can guess what they're gonna feel like the next few days. If they're using opioids, the first time they're coming off opioids, I'll let them know that you won't be feeling well for the next few days. Maybe during that time, you don't want to do goal setting until they feel a bit better. But at the beginning, I try to ask, every time I do an admission, I try to ask about the goal, what would you like to see at the end of your stay.

Lastly, Participant 4 noted that individuals may also not trust the healthcare system and care providers. Although they might be at optimal physical and emotional states to discuss their goals and wants, previous stigmatizing experiences may impact their current responses. Participant 4 offered the following:

I tell them, if they're guarded, you know, I am here if you want to talk but if you don't want to talk, that's okay too. I find that, that kind of sometimes, occasionally will break down that barrier. Well okay now there's no pressure.

After establishing a relationship, another way for nurses maintain person-centredness is through the co-creation of care plans with ISUD.

**Co-Creation of a Care Plan.** The subtheme of co-creation of a care plan centres on interventions that aim to understand and highlight specific goals of the person receiving care. To establish a care plan, participants highlighted interventions rooted in goal identification and

collaborating with the person.

*Goal Identification.* All participants discussed how vital it is to focus on the goals of the person receiving care. To do so, participants discussed not enforcing treatment approaches or goals that the person was not seeking, especially when they are not ready (Participants 3 and 4). Participant 3 considered this in detail:

Yeah so, I guess for everybody abstinence isn't the goal, maybe some people want to reduce how much they use or use a method that will be a bit safer. I guess you can't really force people who aren't ready. If you really want someone to abstain for the rest of their life, they have to be ready for that, right? So I think meeting people where they are, you know providing the support (to) make some healthy choices, little bit safer, and kind of use that gentle persuasion, maybe planting seed of abstinence later on – that's probably more effective than cold turkey or if you know what I'm saying? Forcing people into abstinence.

Based on the perspective of ISUD, the nurse supports what the person may want or need. For example, some ISUD present with multiple substance use challenges and may only want to focus on one substance during the admission. When this is the case, the nurse allows the client to set the goals. Participant 2 outlined this practice:

If they're polysubstance and they...you ask them...what is their goal here...and their goal might be to stop using opiates but continue using cocaine at parties or whatever...As long as that cocaine is...It's one substance at a time for me...So, the patient makes the goal of what they see long term. They're living their best life at...their most functional life and if it includes using a substance...occasionally or a harm reduction, reducing the amount then uh...that's what their recovery means to me.

All participants outlined that it is imperative to set out a plan for the admission. This can be achieved by trying to understand what recovery means for the individual with SUD and trying to understand what their goals are (Participants 2, 3, and 4). However, nurses can purposefully ask about the substance(s) of concern which can help establish history (what type of substance is the person consuming and the amount) and context for the admission (Participants 1 and 2). Nurses can further co-create the care plan by trying to understand what the client's goals are. All participants overwhelmingly discussed interventions rooted in trying to identify the goals of ISUD during the admission.

Generally, it can be helpful to ask the client what they would like to achieve at the end of their admission (Participants 3 and 4). Nurses can focus on substance use specific goals. To extract these goals, nurses can ask if there is a preference for abstinence or harm reduction and if there is a focus on one substance or multiple substances (all participants). Cessation or reduction of substance use can also introduce issues that individuals may have challenges with. For example, clients may have cravings to use substances after admission. Thus, clients may have goals around increasing their tools or coping skills. Alternatively, participants outlined that nurses could discuss future possible situations and highlight some goals that could be helpful. Participant 3 spoke about it below:

They have to try to give people the idea that you're gonna have these feelings, they're inevitable, you're gonna be at a point - I wanna have a drink. You have to figure out what you're gonna do about that. That's part of goal planning, if your goal is abstinent, you have to do some kind of intervention to stop you from drinking. That's definitely part of the nursing role during their stay.

Goals can focus on other aspects of the person's life such as education, vocation, and life goals.

Participant 3 outlined the following:

So, if they're dissatisfied with the way their life is going. If they have an idea of where they're like to be, maybe they don't like their work, maybe they don't have any hobbies, things that make their life enjoyable, that's something that's always a good idea to explore, and try to understand you know - what they would like out of life?

Uhm, I think it's a good idea to understand, if it's not even about just life goals, like what else they want to do, it's definitely about your goal for substance use, where do you want to go from here. In a few weeks, when you're gonna be done withdrawing, do you wanna go back, what do you want to do afterwards?

As such, goals do not always have to be focus on the admission stay but can also focus on post-admission (Participants 1, 3, and 4). Participant 4 offers another way this can be asked:

It depends on how, on my relationship with the client. I think this client specifically, I approached it like asking him...in your best-case scenario of how things are gonna go for you when you are discharged, what would that look like for you?

After general goals have been identified, participants outlined that it is vital to support clients attain their goals. Nurses can ask clients to write down their goals. This intervention encourages ISUD to reflect on themselves and their goals; this can be helpful for those that may have not set goals (Participant 1). Nurses can also ask clients to further break down their goals to smaller and attainable goals (Participants 1 and 3). For example, clients can identify daily or weekly goals that progress toward their major goal. After goal setting, nurses can support clients identify next steps that are essential to their goals (Participants 1, 3, and 4). Another helpful intervention would be to remind individuals about the goals they have set in the beginning of the

admission (Participant 3). In some instances, the challenges with substances can lead to resigning from their treatment. Participant 3 explicates how nurses play a role in this:

They told us what they'd like to do, they told us what their goals are for the admission, we are just kind of helping them stay on track. Sometimes, I find that people that they're about to leave and they wanna sign out Against Medical Advice (AMA). You can sit with them and remind them why they're here, what they wanted out of this admission, and why they should stay. Sometimes that does work.

When such opportunities present, nurses can attempt to have further discussion about their goals, highlight their goals, and reasons they should continue the admission. Overall, all participants outlined that it is effective to support ISUD identify goals, next steps, and support their goal attainment. Throughout the care interaction, participants highlighted that nurses collaborate with the individual.

Collaborating with the Person. During the inpatient admission, the nurse responds to the client as much as the client responds to the nurse. In some instances, nurses may recognize that they can impart something that maybe beneficial to the person and attempt to offer it. Participant 3 discussed what one can do when ISUD feel "stuck":

Maybe the client's kind of stuck at a point in their recovery. Advocating for themselves...we can give them some pointers and some tips what might help them along with their recovery. If they're agreeable we can advocate for that...Sometimes some clients are reluctant to change or uh you know don't like the plans set forward by the team.

Nurses can also encourage collaboration by asking feedback from the person regarding their treatment plan. For example, nurses can ask if there could be something else the team could do to

change or improve the care. Clients can also present with challenges that they are struggling with and with which the nurses can work. For example, Participant 4 supported a client's decision regarding Methadone and Suboxone:

I have this client who was dependent on opioids. He had been on Methadone for quite some time. He was admitted for mental health and but also has concurrent substance use ...and he was trying to decide whether Suboxone versus Methadone was right for him. Whether he was ready to make the change...uhm from Methadone which he had been on for years to Suboxone which is more like, more recent medication and could've helped him in his recovery. Um, and so I helped him explore his feelings around what his goals were for himself and his recovery and like what each of those choices would look like for him in terms of matching up with those goals.

In this instance, the client presented an issue they were grappling with, and the nurse responded with specific interventions to allow for better decision-making. Depending on what the ISUD brings to the care encounter, the nurse responds to support the person's wishes and goals.

Overall, it is important to be person-centred throughout the inpatient admission. Participants outlined that this can be achieved by establishing a therapeutic relationship and co-creating a care plan, allowing the person to set goals for the admission and guide their care.

### Empowering the Person in Their Recovery Journey and Fostering Hope

All participants discussed that effective interventions were focused on empowering ISUD and fostering hope. Subthemes that recurred were education, ensuring that ISUD have options and choice, and providing encouragement and advocating on their behalf (See Table 5).

**Education.** ISUD may often feel disempowered through the challenges they have faced. This can make them feel that they are unable to achieve their goals and continue with the way

their life has been going. Thus, all participants found that it was helpful to increase the patients'

**Table 5**The Theme and Subthemes Within Empowerment and Hope

	ering the Person in Their Recovery Jou	urney and Fostering Hope		
Education	Provide education on substance(s)	Withdrawal process		
		Pharmacotherapy		
		IV issues – infection, BBV		
		Harm reduction approaches How to use needles Supplies Overdose prevention and intervention Naloxone kit The law Safe consumption site		
	Tools	SMART Recovery		
		DBT		
Options and choice	Made aware of available options			
	Discuss positive and negative impacts of options			
	Give choice and clarify preference			
Providing encouragement and advocating on their behalf	Act as their cheerleader			
	Explore life and positive aspects	Social supports		
		Future plans		
	Advocacy within hospital	Advocate for best interest  Medical or mental health needs Safety Longer admission		
		Advocate against stigma Speak up and confront Sets tone-stigma will not be tolerated Role model		
	Advocacy external to hospital	Housing		
		Waitlist		

belief in themselves to achieve goals they have set. To increase their ability, participants outlined that it is beneficial to educate and provide tools to ISUD (all participants). Education tends to focus on substances, their impact, and potential interventions. For example, nurses can provide education on the withdrawal process (Participants 2, 3, and 4) and potential pharmacotherapy that can be used to alleviate withdrawal symptoms (Participant 2). Another education focus can be on the route the substances are taken. For example, for those that consume substances intravenously through injection, nurses can provide education on blood borne viruses (BBV) that transmit via blood (Participant 1). Thus, education also focuses on harm reduction. For example, nurses can provide education on safe use of needles, the benefits of having harm reduction supplies, interventions to take in case of an overdose, the use of a naloxone kit, the law (Good Samaritan Overdose Act), and the utilization of a safe consumption site (Participants 1, 2, 3, and 4). Lastly, education can focus on providing ISUD tools such as Self-Management and Recovery Training (SMART) recovery and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT) skills. By providing ISUD with education, they can become informed regarding their substance use and corresponding treatment, which can support choice.

**Discussion of Options and Providing Choice.** After the person's goals have been identified, Participants 2, 3, and 4 outlined that ISUD should be made aware of the available options. It is helpful to do this in instances whereby individuals are unsure of the next steps and potential options open to them (Participants 2 and 3). It is also important to discuss the positive and negative impacts of each option and potential outcome of that option. Participant 3 spoke about how this can be done:

I try to get people to walk through the choices of the options available to them and what would happen with each. Um, because I find that a lot of people don't think that through,

really even though it seems like a really basic thing to explore. So, I would say if you made this choice, what's the best-case scenario of what would happen? What's the worst-case scenario of what would happen? If you made this other choice, what's the best-case scenario, what's the worst-case scenario? Once you run through those things, you feel, a lot of the time people feel more prepared to make a decision.

After their options are identified, all participants discussed that ISUD should be given the choice regarding what they would like to do. Potential interventions can be for nurses to ask about the individual's preferences and clarify their preferences if there are inconsistencies with the team and care plan (Participants 1 and 2). By providing choice, individuals can learn that treatment will not be forced on them (Participants 2 and 3). For example, Participant 2 spoke about allowing individuals to leave their inpatient admission and come back when they are ready. Or, some ISUD may want to continue their admission although their goals may not quite fit the purpose of the treatment. Participant 2 spoke about not discharging individuals when this occurs:

Yeah, so even if like somebody just wants harm reduction and want to come in and just get some clean time to give their body a rest in MWS...fine. But just know that there is a loss of tolerance at the end of admission and don't use the same amount (of substance). I can see a patient coming in for two days if that's what they want...Okay. That's what we will call recovery in this moment...and of course we don't...If a patient says that (that's) their recovery... they don't get discharge from the service right away. We continue to work with them because it can be...it's fluid, it can change all the time.

By incorporating the discussion of options and choice, ISUD can feel involved with their care.

**Encouragement and Advocacy.** ISUD need to have hope that they can attain their goals

and that they have a future. Interventions to increase their belief in themselves would be to act as their cheerleader. Participant 2 explained why it is essential to do this:

Well, I think that uhm...the decision to stop using substances is huge...they don't know a life without it, so its really scary. Like it's scary and it's brave and acknowledging that gives them some...gives them some self-esteem, some self-worth, have some, know that they do have power in this and that they can change and can get better. So, don't give up...cause I think probably there's a lot of negative self-talk that's been happening for a long time. So, we could be their cheerleader – is a huge thing. Maybe they don't have social support in the community or wherever they came from, and this is the first time they are realizing, yes life can be different, it can be better, without substances. Or with less substances, or whatever it is their goal is.

Other interventions that Participants 1, 2, and 3 outlined were to explore what the individual would like in their life and discussing positive aspects of their life. For example, speaking about social supports such as their partner, children, and friends that care about them can help increase hope (Participant 3). Asking about future plans and how they envision their life without substances can also be beneficial (Participants 1, 2, and 3). By doing so, clients refocus on their goals, start thinking about their next moves, and identify skills they possess or require to address their challenges (Participant 3).

To empower ISUD, all participants highlighted advocacy as an effective intervention.

Advocacy focuses on nurses promoting the person's best interest (Participants 2 and 3).

Advocacy can occur within the hospital. Participants highlighted that nurses can advocate for medical or mental health issues that arise which require further support. Examples Participant 3 used to highlight this included, a person's safety, room changes when unit issues occur, or as

Participant 2 shared to advocate for a longer admission. Nurses can also advocate against stigma by speaking up and confronting individuals who may be demonstrating stigma (Participant 4).

Participant 4 discussed their experience:

Yea, I speak up. I was actually in an overnight shift once with two other nurses who were talking about as if it was a purely theoretical academic subject whether people who have been in treatment for substance use more than twice and have gone out and used substances again, are deserving of treatment a third time. And they were talking about, how they were not, and that it was a waste of healthcare dollars. Um, and I was furious and I spoke up. And I'm really happy that I did because I actually changed the viewpoint of one of the two and I felt like I did my job.

By speaking up, individuals who may possess stigma can learn that they cannot speak about ISUD derogatorily and opposing stigma sets the tone that it will not be tolerated (Participant 4). Alternatively, there are stigmatizing events where judgment is passed which can be difficult to deal with. Participant 4 explains the following:

Mostly what I am talking about is like snide, comments, where you can't quite speak up because nothing really negative was actually said but it was communicated, some judgment. And it's just like in passing, unless you get right on it, you cannot really address it on the moment.

In instances like that, nurses can role model behaviours that are mindful of stigma such as by using language that diminishes judgment towards ISUD; this can help change the stigmatizing environment (Participant 4). Advocacy can also occur external to the hospital setting.

Participants 2 and 3 discussed advocating for housing or shorter waitlists for community supports. Overall, interventions that ensure patients are well informed to make choices within a

non-stigmatizing, encouraging environment empowers ISUD through their recovery and can foster hope.

# Holistic Approach

Participants highlighted multifaceted interventions that focused on many components in the lives of ISUD. Effective interventions were those that targeted the biological, psychological, social domains, spirituality and culture, and recreation (See Table 6).

**Table 6**The Theme and Subthemes Within Holistic Interventions

	Holistic Appro	ach
Biological	Wound care, pain, sleep	
	Withdrawal management	Assess
		Pharmacotherapy
		Non-pharmacotherapy
Psychological	Monitoring	
	Crisis intervention	
	Identify and manage trigge	ers
	Manage cravings	Reassurance
		Medications
		Distraction
		Riding out the cravings
		Encourage to stay
	Manage feelings	Identification and labelling of feelings
		Anxiety Sit with the patient Ice packs Grounding
		DBT Distress tolerance Opposite to emotion action

	Holistic A <sub>l</sub>	oproach		
		thoughts		
Social	Assess			
	Participate in care disc	scussion		
	Connect with formal supports	Inpatient nurse can role model social skills  Community outpatient medical programs		
	Connect with peers	Encourage to att setting	end groups in inpatient	
		Connect with A	A or self-help groups	
Spirituality and Culture	Assess to understand			
	Provide information about services  Support spiritual and cultural practices			
Recreation	TV, movies, music Nature walk Exercise	Ping pong Card or board games Massage chairs	Art Puzzles Meditation	

**Biological.** Participants discussed interventions rooted in the biological component of the individual. Given that each person presents with varying issues related to substances, complications can arise. ISUD can discuss their medical concerns with nurses who can provide interventions. For example, participants discussed that some individuals may present with wounds. Nurses can provide wound care and manage infection related to the wound (Participants 2 and 3). Other biological issues that nurses manage are pain and sleep hygiene (Participant 3). Nurses can also respond to medical emergencies such as overdoses within the inpatient setting. Participant 3 spoke about this:

Well, we have Naloxone in our crash carts, you'd also have to call code blue, do VS

(vital signs), hopefully you wouldn't do a chest compression. The naloxone would work and you'd call ambulance. We are capable of managing those kinds of medical emergencies.

Moreover, participants highlighted that a major aspect that needs to be addressed is the person's withdrawal.

Withdrawal Management. All the participants discussed how essential it is to manage the withdrawal symptoms that clients present with. When withdrawal symptoms are not managed, clients can have increased cravings, feel the need to use substances (Participant 1), and may abruptly discontinue their admission stay (Participant 3). As previously discussed, participants outlined that providing education about withdrawal symptoms may be needed for some that are seeking treatment for the first time (Participant 3). All participants spoke about the use of pharmacotherapy to manage withdrawal symptoms. For example, Participant 3 discussed the use of standardized tools to assess withdrawal symptoms:

So, there's different approaches for different substances. There's alcohol, there's CIWA, which is the Clinical Institute for Withdrawal for Alcohol, and you just score their withdrawal and it's like a protocol to make, not foolproof, but like to standardize the administration of medications to counter the withdrawal. Or like, for opioids, it would be COWS, the Clinical Opioid Withdrawal Scale, I think is what it stands for.

After the withdrawal symptoms are assessed, medications are offered and provided to the client. However, Participants 2 and 3 also spoke about being mindful of the effects of the medication used for withdrawal management. Medications may have anticipated effects such as sedation or euphoria that the person may still be seeking. Thus, being vigilant of the person's overall presentation and using clinical judgment to not provide further medications can be warranted

(Participant 2). For those that use nicotine, nicotine replacement therapy can be offered (Participant 1). Participants also discussed the use of non-pharmacotherapy interventions to manage withdrawal. For example, nausea can be managed with ginger, ginger ale, and crackers (Participant 2). Participant 3 spoke about the use of hot packs to manage pain and muscle aches. Overall, participants outlined that the management of withdrawal is essential to support the recovery of ISUD. After providing effective interventions during the first few days of admission, additional vital interventions can be completed during the inpatient stay.

Psychological. All the participants highlighted the effectiveness of interventions rooted in the psychological component of individuals. Within the inpatient setting, nurses can support the management of co-occurring mental health issues and can also focus on providing tools that individuals can use after the inpatient admission. Patients can have accompanying mental health issues in addition to their substance use which should be managed at the same time (Participant 3). Participant 3 spoke about on-going monitoring of the individual's mental health state and providing emotional support. Despite the support, individuals may have a crisis within the inpatient setting. When patients start having increased emotional distress, nurses can dedicate time to provide emotional support, engage in therapeutic communication, participate in safety planning, encourage the use of coping skills, and provide medications as needed (Participants 2 and 3). However, some individuals may not have coping strategies to utilize; all participants highlighted how essential it is to support ISUD to gain such skills. Participants discussed that the focus should be on supporting ISUD to independently manage triggers (Participant 4) and cravings, especially prior to discharge to the community (Participants 2 and 3). As a first step, nurses can support the identification of "triggers" to the substance use, such as emotional states like sadness, as explained by Participant 4:

You'd also help them identify some of the triggers for them. Uhm, that are either triggering emotions that cause them to want to use substances if that's how it works for them, or sometimes it's just a trigger directly to use the substance. I say ok like is there something that like usually leads you to reach out to that or do you have a general feeling before that kind of thing happens that makes you want to use the substance? Depending on how they brought it up, the question will be phrased differently. Most importantly, non-judgmental and straight to the point.

Identification of triggers can help pre-emptively identify how they can cope when such occasions reoccur in the future (Participant 2). Additionally, nurses support the management of "cravings" related to the substance. Individuals may be tempted to use substances as cravings may start to increase as they work towards their goal.

Nurses can provide reassurance (Participant 1), pharmacotherapy, encourage the use of distraction (watching TV, listening to music, taking a bath) (Participants 1 and 3), encourage "riding out" the cravings, and encourage the individual to continue their inpatient stay (Participant 3). Role playing or practicing of skills can also be effective. Tools can focus on managing feelings. Feelings may start to arise as this is the first-time individuals considered stopping or reducing their substance use; as such, labelling and identification of feelings can be helpful (Participant 2). Anxiety can be very common (all Participants) and helpful interventions can be to sit with the patient (Participant 2), providing ice packs, and grounding (Participant 1). Participants also spoke about the utilization of interventions (such as distress tolerance and opposite action) connected with DBT (Participants 2 and 4). ISUD can also feel guilty for how they have "acted" in the past and about the consequences of their substance use (Participant 3). It

can be effective for nurses to help reframe or help challenge negative thoughts which was discussed by Participant 3:

But I think, there's quite a few people that I talk to that just have incredible feelings of guilt. They feel guilty for the things that they've done in the past; they feel guilty with the way they have acted towards family members or friends. Or they have some kind of interpersonal fight going on and they can't manage it because they're in the hospital. I'll let them vent about their issue, I like to remind people that the way they view themselves in such a negative light isn't necessarily true to what their loved ones, or what we think as your staff. A lot of people struggle with comorbid addiction and mental health issues have a lot of trouble with their own self-worth, reminding them sometimes, sometimes your brain is your own worst enemy, that's effective in making feel better, at least in the short term.

Nurses can coach individuals to challenge and work through their negative self-talk and introduce a new skill they can utilize when this reoccurs (Participant 3). Supporting a patient to problem-solve a myriad of issues can also support their recovery (Participants 2 and 3). Overall, the nurse supports the patient's psychological self-management and encourages the acquisition of tools.

**Social.** A majority of the participants discussed how beneficial it is for the nurse to focus on the person's social support (Participants 1, 2, and 3). Initially, the patient's supports should be assessed (Participants 2 and 3). Assessment focuses on current supports especially upon discharge (Participant 2). If supports are identified, such as family, they can be encouraged to participate in care discussions (Participant 2). However, individuals may struggle with identifying supports; for these individuals, connection with formal, community, and peer

supports is vital. Within the inpatient setting, nurses can act as the formal support (Participant 2). Nurses can boost social skills that individuals may have struggled with (Participant 2). For example, nurses enforce rules, set boundaries, and practice interpersonal communication such as saying "no" (Participants 2 and 4). Inpatient nurses can also organize and connect ISUD to outpatient medical programs (Participant 2). Another beneficial intervention is to connect ISUD with peers. Within the inpatient setting, patients can be encouraged to attend groups (Participants 1, 3, and 4). In the community, patients can be referred to peer-led groups such as Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) and other self-help groups (Participant 1). Peer support is helpful as peers can provide strategies based on experiences and increases the person's social network (Participants 1 and 3). Participant 1 shared:

So it helps them understand other people situation as well, in comparison to theirs. And they can share some of their experiences. Some of the things that they learn throughout their life that they can provide to other people. It's something I find with clients...They like to share something that may work/ worked for them in the past as well.

This was further validated by Participant 3:

I've seen people when they take the 12-step program, they have a confidante that they can call. I've been told from patients that seems to work really well. Someone who has a similar experience, someone who can tell you it's not worth it.

Overall, assessing supports, re-establishing social connection, and connection to formal and peer social supports are effective nursing interventions that support recovery.

**Spirituality and Culture.** Only one participant (Participant 2) discussed how beneficial it is for nurses to provide interventions focused on spirituality and culture. During the admission assessment, nurses can conduct assessments focused on understanding the person's spirituality

practices and ask how the team can support these practices in the inpatient unit. Participant 2 discussed supporting Indigenous people and their practices, providing scriptures as requested, providing information about non-denominational services, and other non-religious based activities such as nature walks. Participant 2 also spoke about supporting individuals of Muslim faith:

Certainly like, things like for Muslim clients who have a, you know someone's fasting for Ramadan, connecting with dietary services to have their, to respect their wishes for meals uhm if they need to pray a certain of number times per day. Getting them a space, a quiet space that they pray.

Participant 2 also spoke about culture as it intertwined with spirituality. Participant 2 spoke about supporting people of Caribbean background by connecting ISUD with services that are culture specific (i.e., Substance Abuse Program for African Canadian and Caribbean Youth [SAPACCY]). Additionally, individuals of Indigenous background can be supported with smudging and be referred to Aboriginal services. Lastly, Participant 2 spoke about being mindful of those who may identify as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transexual, Queer + (LGBTQ+) as there might be complex trauma or substance use concerns.

Recreation Therapy. Lastly, Participants 1, 2, and 3 discussed that nursing interventions focused on recreation therapy effectively promoted recovery. Focusing on recreation is helpful as it reintroduces hobbies that ISUD may have neglected (Participants 2 and 3) and the reintroduction of hobbies can help disassociate activities (such as going outside) from substance use (Participant 2). Nurses proposed activities such as watching television, movies (Participants 1 and 3), listening to and playing music (Participant 2), and utilizing a pass for a nature walk (Participants 1 and 2). Participant 2 outlined the following:

Yeah, fresh air is helpful, not being locked in a kind of a stale environment of the hospital. Like I know that our Aboriginal service does a great job of doing like earth-based, nature-based interventions. Grounding, so I think it's a good thing when they ask to go outside because so many people with substance use issues are you know, spending most of their time, seeking their next drug, or their next bottle of booze, if they could just spend some time outside looking at the sky, feeling the earth under their feet, it helps them ground themselves. It's a missing part I think, in our treatment. There's not enough nature.

Recreation also focused on physical exercise such as playing ping pong (Participant 1), playing card or board games (Participants 1 and 3), the use of massage chairs (Participant 1), doing art, puzzles, and engaging in meditation (Participants 2 and 3). Overall, interventions that focused on various aspects of an individual supported the recovery of ISUD.

In summary, this chapter highlighted that participants viewed recovery as a process with general goals of abstinence or harm reduction which is determined by the client. When caring for ISUD, participants highlighted that they were mindful of theories or concepts such as biopsychosocial model and concurrent disorder approach, destignatizing approach, traumainformed approach, stages of change and Motivational Interviewing (MI), and harm reduction. Lastly, effective nursing interventions that promoted recovery were those that were rooted in the themes of being person-centred, empowerment and promotion of hope, and a holistic approach.

## **Chapter 5: Discussion**

This study explored effective nursing recovery-oriented interventions that promoted the recovery of ISUD within an inpatient psychiatric setting. The goal was to illuminate the diverse interventions that nurses implement in practice. As previously discussed, effective nursing interventions were those that were person-centred, focused on empowering and instilling hope, and holistically focused. In this chapter, I discuss how the participants' view of recovery falls alongside personal recovery (as discussed in Chapter 2), the utilization of diverse theories and approaches, how the findings compare to the literature review (including the perspectives of ISUD compared to nurse participants, and infrequently mentioned interventions). Lastly, I highlight the significance of the findings, limitations, and future directions.

## **View of Recovery**

Due to the diverse definitions of recovery, a sub question of the study was to illuminate how nurses caring for ISUD view recovery. Based on the findings, participants' view of recovery fits personal recovery. This is also evident in the interventions that participants discussed such as utilizing a person-centred approach, empowerment, instillation of hope, focusing on goals beyond substance use, and social support. Thus, the study demonstrates that psychiatric nurses in the academic teaching hospital are utilizing personal recovery and are employing interventions rooted in the CHIME framework. This is a promising finding as it means that nurses look at ISUD as the experts, rather than viewing themselves as the experts who hold the key to recipients' recovery.

## The Application of Theory, Models, and Approaches

As there are identified and usable theories, models, and guidelines (i.e., Tidal Model, the Guidelines for Recovery-Oriented Practice, CHIME framework), nurses supporting ISUD may

be utilizing such concepts in practice and not be aware of this. This study may help illuminate that theories, models and guidelines underly practice even if the nurse does not acknowledge it in their discussion of the practice. This is important as nurses should recognize what theories and concepts support their practice, be able to articulate what they do and why they do it, as theoryguided practice has been shown to be beneficial (Younas & Quennell, 2019). As per the study, participants did not discuss the Tidal model, Guidelines for Recovery-oriented Practice, and the CHIME framework. An explanation could be that there is insufficient education regarding such approaches. For example, Participants 3 and 4 discussed not being trained or being proficient in using MI. This could mean that further education on theories, models, and approaches is needed.

Exposing nurses who provide care to ISUD to a foundational theory or model in teaching sessions might help them make the connection between theory and practice. For example, the interventions that participants highlighted within person-centredness are evident in many of the commitments within the Tidal Model (such as value the voice, respect the language, become the apprentice, craft the step beyond, give the gift of time, develop genuine curiosity, etc.) (Barker & Buchanan-Barker, 2005). Similarly, interventions rooted in empowerment and social support resonate with connectedness and empowerment within CHIME framework (Slade et al., 2012). Thus, as theory-guided practice has been shown to be beneficial (Younas & Quennell, 2019) teaching these are two existing models and frameworks as baseline education may enhance the work of nurses caring for ISUD.

Participants most frequently discussed theories of harm reduction and MI that guide their practice. The use of harm reduction when caring for ISUD is an interesting finding as this was not revealed in the literature review. The utilization of harm reduction can be beneficial as this would mean that nurses are still supporting the person in their goal, staying person-centred, even

if they may continue to use substances and not pursue abstinence (Danda, 2021). It would also mean that psychiatric nurses are not pushing a specific agenda or goal when working with ISUD. However, this can be context specific. For example, forensic patients may have a specific order that they must abstain from alcohol or drug use within their disposition (Bettridge & Barbaree, 2008). Nurses practicing in such settings may have a different and challenging therapeutic relationship when working with ISUD as the nursing role may become focused on rule adherence. Thus, harm reduction may not always be applicable within psychiatric settings and can be difficult to utilize. MI was also discussed frequently by participants; this is not surprising as MI has been noted to be effective in stopping or preventing binge drinking, reducing the amount and frequency of alcohol use, and substance abuse (Frost et al., 2018). Although two participants either did not receive education in MI or did not consider themselves proficient in MI, they spoke about the benefits of MI and trying to implement this. Thus, standardized education (of some approaches like harm reduction and MI) for nurses who work with ISUD is important in helping nurses directly tie theory to clinical practice, thus strengthening their practice (Parks et al., 2013).

Although only one participant brought up the biopsychosocial model and only Participant 4 addressed concurrent disorder approach, the utilization and incorporation of both were evident within the work of all participants. For example, the interventions rooted in the theme of holistic care, underpins the biopsychosocial model and interventions within the biological and psychological domains underline concurrent disorder approach. Incorporation of these concepts in nursing care is crucial as 20% (Rush et al., 2008) to 50% (Buckley et al., 2009) of individuals with a psychiatric illness have a co-occurring SUD. ISUD are three times more likely to have a mental illness (Rush et al., 2008), and people with mental illness are two times more likely to

have a SUD when compared to the general population (Buckley et al., 2009). The utilization of both a biopsychosocial and concurrent disorder approach is a promising finding as it would mean that nurses provide care to ISUD holistically rather than providing interventions within segregated domains.

Less frequent theories, approaches, and models within the study were trauma-informed and de-stigmatizing approaches. As one participant explained, being trauma-informed is the assumption that individuals that come through the healthcare system may have experienced a traumatic event in their personal lives that impacts the way they receive care. Being traumainformed is important as it is estimated that about 76% of Canadians have experienced a traumatic event in their lifetime (Ameringen et al., 2008) and the prevalence of current PTSD among ISUD varies between 15-42% (Roberts et al., 2015). Moreover, individuals with trauma may have increased utilization of healthcare services (Sansone et al., 2014) and this may indicate that psychiatric nurses will have increased exposure to individuals with trauma. Thus, there may be merit in pursuing and illuminating the intersection of nursing recovery-oriented interventions and trauma-informed approaches when caring for ISUD who have trauma. Only one participant discussed interventions that focused on tackling stigma within their work environment. It was interesting as only this participant worked in a general psychiatric inpatient unit. Not advocating against stigma could mean that addiction specific units already have a common goal of supporting ISUD and understanding the stigma ISUD experience; thus, advocating within their teams was not something required as stigma was minimal or non-existent. This finding may mean that substance use was moralized within general psychiatric settings and stigma is still present there. This is consistent with the findings of Dikobe et al. (2016) whereby inpatient psychiatric nurses outlined feeling unsafe as individuals with concurrent disorders have

increased physical aggression, are uncooperative, misinterpret behaviours, and act on impulses to attack. Nurses can also label ISUD as manipulative and outlined needing to be vigilant about their reactions (Johansson & Wiklund-Gustin, 2016). It corroborates the stigmatizing stories I received from individuals I worked with and previous study findings that nurses (Russell et al., 2017) and other care providers possess stigma towards ISUD (van Boekel et al., 2013). Thus, exploration of nurses working within general psychiatric settings and stigma (and interventions that counteract stigma) should be considered. Overall, participants draw from many theoretical standpoints which is beneficial when caring for ISUD, however, there might be a benefit in incorporating education about a specific theory or framework which provides a similar lens when providing nursing care.

## Comparing the Literature Review and the Findings of the Study

Given that the literature review provided the background information to initiate the study, it would be helpful to review how the findings of the study compare to the findings of the literature review.

Within the literature review, effective interventions that were unique from the perspective of ISUD were those that focused on social support, education, and system navigation. As per the study findings, all nurse participants discussed interventions rooted in supporting the social domain and making sure that ISUD have all the necessary information through education. The findings of the study are parallel to the literature review findings about ISUD noting the importance of social support. Since psychiatric nurses are applying these effective interventions, they are promoting the recovery of ISUD. Nurse participants did not discuss system navigation within the study. The omission of system navigation could be related to the focus being on ISUD rather than individuals with severe mental illness. In individuals with severe mental illness, case

management which includes coordination and system navigation, has been shown to be effective (Dieterick et al., 2010). Additionally, it might be a difficult intervention to implement within inpatient settings as nurses usually cannot leave the unit for an extended trip with a patient.

Within the literature review, interventions rooted in withdrawal management, harm reduction, spirituality, culture, advocacy, and disclosure were not frequently raised as effective nursing interventions that promoted the recovery of ISUD. Contrary to this, the study findings reveal that all nurse participants are utilizing interventions that support withdrawal management, harm reduction, and advocacy. All participants discussed that withdrawal management is an essential primary intervention that nurses must utilize in the earlier part of the admission to support the recovery of ISUD. It would make sense that participants highlighted this as unmanaged withdrawal can lead to uncomfortable withdrawal symptoms and can lead to life threatening complications (Gupta et al., 2021). Moreover, withdrawal management is an expected competency for addiction nurses as per the Addiction Nursing Certification Board (Wason et al., 2021) and when withdrawal has been managed, further interventions can be implemented.

Regarding harm reduction, all participants also discussed that promoting harm reduction is an essential intervention to promote the recovery of ISUD. As participants highlighted, there are diverse goals that ISUD discuss with care providers. It is vital that nurses support the goals that the individual would like to achieve and not promote a specific goal which contradicts their identified goal (Bartlett et al., 2013; Imkome, 2017). Harm reduction allows for a flexible approach that encompasses many interventions which supports ISUD in many aspects (Danda, 2021). Additionally, such a flexible approach can support nurses to maintain a therapeutic

relationship with ISUD and continue providing support and interventions throughout their recovery journey.

Lastly, advocacy was highlighted by all participants as an effective intervention within the study. This is a new finding as advocacy was minimally discussed within the literature review. Although all participants spoke about advocacy, there was a difference in how participants from addiction specific units and from the general psychiatric unit discussed advocacy. Participants from the addiction unit spoke about advocating for ISUD within the hospital system and focused on the person's care plan such as longer admission or change in medication, whereas the participant from the general psychiatric unit discussed advocating for ISUD within the hospital system to decrease stigma. This highlights that units within the psychiatric hospital that do not specialize in supporting ISUD may possess stigma towards ISUD. Further exploration of stigma towards ISUD within these units or various other units within the hospital should be considered. Overall, the study reveals that nurses are utilizing withdrawal management, harm reduction, and advocacy to promote the recovery of ISUD.

The study illuminates some areas that are regrettably consistent with findings within the literature review. As per the literature review, spirituality, culture, and disclosure were not frequently mentioned. Unfortunately, the findings of the study coincide with this finding as only one participant discussed spirituality and culture. Nurses may underestimate the importance and the role of spirituality in the patient's recovery (McDowell et al., 1996). Yet, spirituality may be beneficial in the lives of ISUD as it fosters hope, reassures that life will improve, and improves the person's state of mind (DiReda & Gonsalvez, 2016; Grim & Grim, 2019; Heinz et al., 2010). In terms of culture, African, Caribbean, and Black Canadians have challenges with substance use (Nguemo et al., 2019), like Canadis (Tuck et al., 2017). Additionally, on-reserve First Nations

youth have a higher prevalence for alcohol abuse when compared to other youth (Lemstra et al., 2013). Some First Nations communities may have up to 85% of their population experience a problem with opioid use (Health Canada, 2011), although in the general population, opioid related hospitalizations have been increasing in the past 5 years with youth aged 15-24 and 25% of youth between grade 7-12 engaged in high-risk drinking behaviour (Public Health Agency Canada, 2018). Even though such problems exist, a barrier that continues to exist is a lack of culturally relevant and appropriate services (Gainsbury, 2017), even though culture is a protective factor that fosters resilience (Henson et al., 2017).

Perhaps the lack of mentioning interventions rooted in spirituality or culture can be explained by having too broad general questions as the purpose was to include as many effective interventions as possible that nurses used to promote recovery; the questions did not focus on any specific intervention. Knowing the organization within which this study took place, I know that there are multiple supports available to recognize and bolster spirituality and culture. For example, the hospital has access to spiritual care providers, spiritual spaces and services, and also has culture specific services such as SAPACCY, Aboriginal services, Rainbow services, and Youth, Women's, and Geriatric units. Thus, participants may actually utilize such services which were not highlighted, perhaps due to the way the questions were phrased. As such, how nurses utilize interventions rooted in spirituality and culture when working with ISUD should be further reviewed.

Lastly, disclosure was not discussed in the literature review and within the study.

Interestingly, one participant discussed their lived experience and its impact on their practice.

However, the participant's lived experience was related to a mental health disorder rather than a SUD. Lived experience can be helpful and there are peer recovery support services that have

beneficial outcomes such as improved relationships with care providers, increased treatment retention, and greater satisfaction with their treatment (Eddie et al., 2019). Peer recovery services are those delivered by ISUD (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2009). Although specifically hired peer workers may not disclose their own experiences, being employed as a peer, makes known that they have a SUD. ISUD outline that care providers with lived experience, promotes the idea that recovery is possible and increases hope (Munro et al., 2017). Additionally, lived experience roles reduce coercion, increases the rights of care recipients (Deegan, 2007), and do not have the same power imbalance such as traditional care providers and care recipient relationships (Mendoza et al., 2013). Therefore, exploration of the experiences of nurses with lived experience related to SUD and self-disclosure (or non-disclosure), who work within addiction settings might be beneficial. This would probably be difficult to achieve as there might be issues with disclosure and having a smaller sample size. The utilization of self-disclosure when caring for ISUD should still be explored. Overall, interventions based on spirituality, culture, and disclosure should be explored as they were minimally highlighted within the literature review and the study.

## Significance of the Findings

As previously highlighted in the literature review, only one study was conducted in Canada, and it focused on the examination of hope (Koehn & Cutcliffe, 2012), and previous studies did not focus on effective nursing interventions that promoted the recovery of ISUD. This study furthers nursing science as it highlighted effective recovery-oriented interventions that inpatient Canadian nurses use when working with ISUD within an academic institution.

Completion of the study contributes to the improvement of the care received by ISUD as it offers nurses a list of successful interventions that can be implemented. Nurses may consider a range of

interventions, from those most used to those rarely used, and decide what might be most effective for their patients. Moreover, the study underscores that theories and concepts (such as harm reduction, CHIME framework, Tidal model, and MI) should be an educational focus. The study also highlights some strengths (being person-centred, collaborative, developing care plans through goal identification and discharge planning, promotion of choice, empowerment, education, and providing holistic care) and weaknesses (deficits in culturally competent and spiritually focused care) of psychiatric nurses when caring for ISUD. Finally, this study indicated that ISUD are still experiencing stigma even within specialized psychiatric settings.

## Limitations

A limitation of the study is that the sample size is small (N=4). Due to the smaller sample size, there could have been interventions that were not discussed. Although nurses may consider the findings transferrable, these may not apply to some settings. Furthermore, the study highlighted the perspective of nurses, and ISUD may have a different perception; that is, that the interventions nurses may believe are effective, those with SUD may not view these as effective for *their* recovery.

Additionally, the literature search described in Chapter 2, was specifically narrow in order to examine perceptions of effective nursing interventions when working with individuals experiencing SUD. If search terms had been expanded to include terms such as approaches, terms such as recovery capital, may have surfaced.

Finally, the interview tool contained questions that may have been too broad which may have resulted in the omission of such interventions such as spirituality and culture.

## **Future Directions**

Due to the limited discussion of interventions rooted in spirituality and culture, future studies could highlight how nurses implement such interventions to support the recovery of ISUD. Additionally, the nurses' use of self-disclosure and lived experience when caring for ISUD can be studied. Another area to explore would be the nurses' role and effective interventions that promote recovery of ISUD and trauma. Lastly, stigma towards ISUD and interventions to counteract stigma should be explored within general psychiatric units.

## **Conclusion**

This study evolved from my attempts to understand and explicate nurses' unique role and positive contributions toward the experiences and recovery of ISUD. The study utilized QD to explore effective nursing recovery-oriented interventions when working with ISUD. Effective nursing interventions were rooted in the themes of being person-centred, and the importance of empowerment and fostering hope, and holistic care. Although the study offered such effective interventions, nurses should be careful that these interventions will not fit all individuals or situations, thus, emphasizing the need to be person-centred. Although this study counters such unfortunate stigmatizing experiences that ISUD continue to face, there are additional organizational, systemic, and national strategies that could be implemented to improve the care and experiences of ISUD.

## References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Association.
- Ameringen, M., Mancini. C., Patterson, B., & Boyle, M. H. (2008). Posttraumatic stress disorder in Canada. *CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, *14*(3), 171-181. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-5949.2008.00049.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-5949.2008.00049.x</a>
- Andvig, E., & Biong, S. (2014). Recovery oriented conversations in a milieu therapeutic setting. *International Practice Development Journal*, 4(1), 1–15.
- Angeli, E., Wagner, J., Lawrick, E., Moore, K., Anderson, M., Soderlund, L., & Brizee, A.

  (2010). *General format*. Retrieved from

  <a href="http://owl.english.purdue.edu/owl/resource/560/01/">http://owl.english.purdue.edu/owl/resource/560/01/</a>
- Anthony, W A. (1993). Recovery from mental illness: The guiding vision of the mental health service system in the 1990s. *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal*, *16*(4), 11-23. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/h0095655">https://doi.org/10.1037/h0095655</a>
- Arsel, Z. (2017). Asking questions with reflexive focus: A tutorial on designing and conducting interviews. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *44*(1). 939-948.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx096">https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx096</a></a>
- Barker, P. (2001). The Tidal Model: Developing a person-centered approach to psychiatric and mental health nursing. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, *37*(3), 79-87.
- Barker, P., & Buchanan-Barker, P. (2005). *The Tidal Model: A guide for mental health professionals*. Brunner-Routledge.
- Bartlett, R., Brown, L., Shattell, M., Wright, T., & Lewallen, L. (2013). Harm reduction: compassionate care of persons with addictions. *Medsurg Nursing*, 22(6), 349–358.

- Bettridge, S, & Barbaree, H. 2008. *The forensic mental health system in Ontario: An information guide*. Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. <a href="https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/guides-and-publications/forensic-guide-en.pdf">https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/guides-and-publications/forensic-guide-en.pdf</a>
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social science research: Principles, methods, and practices

  (2nd ed.). Textbooks Collection.

  https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1002&context=oa\_textbooks
- Biringer, E., Davidson, L., Sundfør, B., Ruud, T., & Borg, M. (2016). Experiences of support in working toward personal recovery goals: a collaborative, qualitative study. *BMC*Psychiatry, 16, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-1133-x
- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *4*, 1-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282">https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282</a>
- Brekke, E., Lien, L., Nysveen, K., & Biong, S. (2018). Dilemmas in recovery-oriented practice to support people with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders: a qualitative study of staff experiences in Norway. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 12, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-018-0211-5
- Buckley, P., Miller, B., Lehrer, D., & Castle, D. (2009). Psychiatric comorbidities and schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *35*(2). 383–402, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbn135">https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbn135</a>
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, & Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, *Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans*, December 2018.

  <a href="https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/documents/tcps2-2018-en-interactive-final.pdf">https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/documents/tcps2-2018-en-interactive-final.pdf</a>

- Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. (2018). *Canadian*substance use costs and harms (2007-2014). Ottawa, ON: Canadian Centre on Substance

  Use and Addiction.
- Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. (2020). Canadian substance use costs and harms 2015–2017. Ottawa, ON.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. <a href="https://csuch.ca/publications/CSUCH-Canadian-Substance-Use-Costs-Harms-Report-2020-en.pdf">https://csuch.ca/publications/CSUCH-Canadian-Substance-Use-Costs-Harms-Report-2020-en.pdf</a>
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT–485CT.
- Cohen, M., & Tarzian, A. (2017). Descriptive Research. In J. Fitzpatrick (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Nursing Research* (4<sup>th</sup> ed). Springer Publishing.
- College of Nurses of Ontario. (2006). Therapeutic nurse-client relationship, revised 2006.

  Author.
- Colorafi, K. J., & Evans, B. (2016). Qualitative descriptive methods in health science research. *Health Environments Research and Design Journal*, 9(4), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586715614171
- Controlled and illegal drugs. (2021, Feb 12). Controlled and illegal drugs.

  <a href="https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/controlled-illegal-drugs.html">https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/controlled-illegal-drugs.html</a>
- Creswell, J., & Poth, C. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Cruce, G., Öjehagen, A., & Nordström, M. (2012). Recovery-promoting care as experienced by persons with severe mental illness and substance misuse. *International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction*, 10(5), 660–669. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-011-9363-0
- Dahlke, S., Hall, W., & Phinney, A. (2015). Maximizing theoretical contributions of participant observation while managing challenges. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(8), 1117-1122. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315578636">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315578636</a>
- Danda, M. C. (2021). The missing link: Exploring the history of harm reduction nursing in Canada 1998-2018 to provide recommendations for inpatient mental health nurses. *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, 32(2), 121–125.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/JAN.00000000000000398">https://doi.org/10.1097/JAN.00000000000000398</a>
- Deegan, P. E. (2007). The lived experience of using psychiatric medication in the recovery process and a shared decision-making program to support it. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 31(1), 62–69.
- De Ruysscher, C., Vandevelde, S., Vanderplasschen, W., De Maeyer, J., & Vanheule, S. (2017).

  The concept of recovery as experienced by persons with dual diagnosis: A systematic review of qualitative research from a first-person perspective. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 13(4), 264–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504263.2017.1349977
- Dieterich, M., Irving, C. B., Park, B., & Marshall, M. (2010). Intensive case management for severe mental illness. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (10). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007906.pub2
- Dikobe, J., Manyedi, E. M., & Sehularo, L. A. (2016). Experiences of professional nurses in caring for psychiatric patients with dual diagnosis. *Africa Journal of Nursing and Midwifery*, *18*(1), 183-197. https://doi.org/10.25159/2520-5293/809

- DiReda, J., & Gonsalvez, J. (2016). The role of spirituality in treating substance use disorders.

  \*\*Journal of Psychology and Clinical Psychiatry, 6(4).\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.15406/jpcpy.2016.06.00365
- Dulock, H. L. (1993). Research design: Descriptive research. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology*Nursing, 10(4), 154–157.
- Eddie, D., Hoffman, L., Vilsaint, C., Abry, A., Bergman, B., Hoeppner, B., Weinstein, C., & Kelly, J. F. (2019). Lived experience in new models of care for substance use disorder: A systematic review of peer recovery support services and recovery coaching. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 1-12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01052">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01052</a>
- Frank, L.E., & Nagel, S.K. (2017). Addiction and moralization: The role of the underlying model of addiction. *Neuroethics*, *10*, 129–139. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12152-017-9307-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12152-017-9307-x</a>
- Frost, H., Campbell, P., Maxwell, M., O'Carroll, R. E., Dombrowski, S. U., Williams, B., Cheyne, H., Coles, E., & Pollock, A. (2018). Effectiveness of motivational interviewing on adult behaviour change in health and social care settings: A systematic review of reviews. *PloS One*, *13*(10), 1-39. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204890
- Gainsbury, S. M. (2017). Cultural competence in the treatment of addictions: Theory, practice and evidence. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 24(4), 987-1001. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2062
- Gephart, R. (1999). Paradigms and research methods. Research Methods Forum, 4.
- Goffman E. (1968). Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity. Prentice Hall.
- Green, C. A., Yarborough, M. T., Polen, M. R., Janoff, S. L., & Yarborough, B. J. H. (2015).

  Dual recovery among people with serious mental illnesses and substance problems: A

- qualitative analysis. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, *11*(1), 33-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504263.2014.975004
- Grim, B. J., & Grim, M. E. (2019). Belief, behavior, and belonging: How faith is indispensable in preventing and recovering from substance abuse. *Journal of Religion and Health*, *58*(5), 1713–1750. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-019-00876-w
- Gupta, M., Gokarakonda, S., & Attia, F. (2021). Withdrawal Syndromes. *StatPearls*. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459239/
- Hai, A. H., Franklin, C., Park, S., DiNitto, D. M., & Aurelio, N. (2019). The efficacy of spiritual/religious interventions for substance use problems: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 202, 134–148. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.04.045">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.04.045</a>
- Hanson, J. L., Balmer, D. F., & Giardino, A. P. (2011). Qualitative research methods for medical educators. *Academic Pediatrics*, 11(5), 375–386.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2011.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2011.05.001</a>
- Health Canada. (2011). Honouring our strengths: A renewed framework to address substance use issues among First Nations People in Canada.

  <a href="https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2011/sc-hc/H14-65-2011-eng.pdf">https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2011/sc-hc/H14-65-2011-eng.pdf</a>
- Heinz, A. J., Disney, E. R., Epstein, D. H., Glezen, L. A., Clark, P. I., & Preston, K. L. (2010). A focus-group study on spirituality and substance-user treatment. Substance Use & Misuse, 45(1-2), 134–153. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826080903035130
- Henson, M., Sabo, S., Trujillo, A., & Teufel-Shone, N. (2017). Identifying protective factors to promote health in American Indian and Alaska Native adolescents: A literature

- review. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 38(1–2), 5–26. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-016-0455-2">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-016-0455-2</a>
- Imkome, Ek-uma. (2018). Nursing care for persons with drug addiction. In F. Zhao and M. Li (Eds), *Drug Addiction*. IntechOpen. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.73334">https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.73334</a>
- Johansson, L., & Wiklund-Gustin, L. (2016). The multifaceted vigilance nurses' experiences of caring encounters with patients suffering from substance use disorder. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 30(2), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12244
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 40(1), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Kinter, K.T. (2017). What's in a name: "Serious", "Severe", and "Serious and Persistent".

  International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation, 21(1), 52-54.
- Kirby, M. J., & Keon, W. J. (2006). Out of the shadows at last: Transforming mental health, mental illness and addiction services in Canada. The Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology
- Klingemann, H., Sobell, M. B., & Sobell, L. C. (2010). Continuities and changes in self-change research. *Addiction*, 105(9), 1510–1518. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02770.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02770.x</a>
- Koehn, C., & Cutcliffe, J. R. (2012). The inspiration of hope in substance abuse counseling. *Journal of Humanistic Counseling*, *51*(1), 78–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1939.2012.00007.x

- Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2012). Editorial: Qualitative descriptive research: An acceptable design. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, 16(4), 255–256.
- Lane, A. M., Hirst, S. P., Hawranik, P., Reed, M. B., & Rokhman, A. (2017). What do family members really want when older adults transition to a nursing home? *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 43(11), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20170523-03
- Mendoza, J., Bresnan, A., Rosenberg, S., Elson, A., Gilbert, Y., Long, P., Wilson, K., & Hopkins, J. (2013). Obsessive Hope Disorder: Reflections on 30 years of mental health reform in Australia and visions for the future. ConNetica.
- Mundy, L. (2012). Addiction-stigmatized: A new concept to enhance nursing practice. *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, 23(4), 250-254. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/JAN.0b013e3182799ada">https://doi.org/10.1097/JAN.0b013e3182799ada</a>
- Leamy, M., Bird, V., Le Boutillier, C., Williams, J., & Slade, M. (2011). Conceptual framework for personal recovery in mental health: Systematic review and narrative synthesis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 199(6), 445–452.

  https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.110.083733
- Le Boutillier, C., Slade, M., Lawrence, V., Bird, V. J., Chandler, R., Farkas, M., Harding, C., Larsen, J., Oades, L. G., Roberts, G., Shepherd, G., Thornicroft, G., Williams, J., & Leamy, M. (2015). Competing priorities: Staff perspectives on supporting recovery. *Administration and Policy in Mental*, 42(4), 429-438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-014-0585-x
- Lemstra, M., Rogers, M., Moraros, J., & Caldbick, S. (2013). Prevalence and risk indicators of alcohol abuse and marijuana use among on-reserve First Nations youth. *Paediatrics* & *Child Health*, *18*(1), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/18.1.10

- Lewis, M. (2017). Addiction and the brain: Development, not disease. *Neuroethics*, 10(1), 7-18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12152-016-9293-4
- Loiselle, C., Profetto-McGrath, J., Polit, D., & Beck, C.T. (2011). *Canadian essentials of nursing research*. Wolters Kluwer.
- Magilvy, J. K., & Thomas, E. (2009). A first qualitative project: Qualitative descriptive design for novice researchers. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *14*(4), 298–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2009.00212.x
- McAuliffe, A., & Hynes, S. M. (2019). The impact of cognitive functioning on daily occupations for people with multiple sclerosis: A qualitative study. *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 7(3), 1–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1579">https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1579</a>
- McCallum, S. L., Mikocka-Walus, A., A., Gaughwin, M. D., Andrews, J. M., & Turnbull, D. A. (2016). "I'm a sick person, not a bad person": Patient experiences of treatments for alcohol use disorders. *Health Expectations*, 19(4), 828–841.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12379">https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12379</a>
- McDowell, D., Galanter, M., Goldfarb, L., & Lifshutz, H. (1996). Spirituality and the treatment of the dually diagnosed: An investigation of patient and staff attitudes. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 15(2), 55–68.
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2015). Guidelines for recovery-oriented practice.

  Author. <a href="https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-07/MHCC">https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-07/MHCC</a> Recovery Guidelines 2016 ENG.PDF
- Miles, M., Huberman, M., & Saldana, J. (2014). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Sage.

- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D.G., & The PRISMA Group. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA

  Statement. PLoS Med, 6(7), 1-6. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097</a>
- Moltu, C., Stefansen, J., Nøtnes, J. C., Skjølberg, Å., & Veseth, M. (2017). What are "good outcomes" in public mental health settings? A qualitative exploration of clients' and therapists' experiences. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 11, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-017-0119-5
- Morris, Z. S., Wooding, S., & Grant, J. (2011). The answer is 17 years, what is the question:

  Understanding time lags in translational research. *Journal of the Royal Society of*Medicine, 104(12), 510–520. https://doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2011.110180
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(2), 250-260. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250">https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250</a>
- Munro, A., Allan, J., Shakeshaft, A., & Breen, C. (2017). "I just feel comfortable out here, there's something about the place": Staff and client perceptions of a remote Australian Aboriginal drug and alcohol rehabilitation service. *Substance Abuse Treatment,*\*Prevention & Policy, 12, 1–14. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-017-0135-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-017-0135-0</a>
- Neergaard, M.A., Olesen, F., Andersen, R.S., & Sondergaard, J. (2009). Qualitative description the poor cousin of health research? *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 9(1), 52–56.
- Ness, O., Borg, M., Semb, R., & Karlsson, B. (2014). "Walking alongside:" Collaborative practices in mental health and substance use care. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 8(1), 82–97. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-4458-8-55

- Ness, O., Kvello, Ø., Borg, M., Semb, R., & Davidson, L. (2017). "Sorting things out together": Young adults' experiences of collaborative practices in mental health and substance use care. *American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation*, 20(2), 126–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/15487768.2017.1302369
- Nguemo, J. D., Iroanyah, N., Husbands, W., Nelson, L. E., Maina, G., Njoroge, I., Owino, M., Kahan, M., Miller, D., & Wong, J. (2019). Substance use disorders among African, Caribbean and Black (ACB) people in Canada: a scoping review protocol. *BMJ Open*, *9*(7), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-028985
- Niles, C. (2013). Examining the deinstitutionalization movement in North America. *Health Tomorrow 1, 54-83*.
- Nordfjaern, T., Rundmo, T., & Hole, R. (2010). Treatment and recovery as perceived by patients with substance addiction. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health*, 17(1), 46-64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2850.2009.01477.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2850.2009.01477.x</a>
- Opare, F. Y., Aniteye, P., Afaya, A., & Glover-Meni, N. (2020). "We try our best to offer them the little that we can" coping strategies of Ghanaian community psychiatric nurses: A qualitative descriptive study. *BMC Nursing*, 19(1), 1–8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-00449-3">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-00449-3</a>
- Orange, A. (2016). Encouraging reflective practices in doctoral students through research journals. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(12), 2176-2190. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol21/iss12/2
- Ortlipp, M. (2008). Keeping and using reflective journals in the qualitative research process. *The Oualitative Report*, 13(4), 695-705. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol13/iss4/8

- Parks, M. E., Longsworth, L. T., & Espadas, I. (2013). Harmonising nursing education: Theory and practice. *Caribbean Quarterly*, *59*(3–4), 76-97. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43488196
- Pearson, C., Janz, T., & Ali, J. (2013). Mental and substance use disorders in Canada. *Health at a Glance*. <a href="https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2013001/article/11855-eng.htm">https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2013001/article/11855-eng.htm</a>
- Pettersen, H., Landheim, A., Skeie, I., Biong, S., Brodahl, M., Benson, V., & Davidson, L. (2019). Helpful ingredients in the treatment of long-term substance use disorders: A collaborative narrative study. *Substance Abuse: Research & Treatment*, *13*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178221819844996
- Piat, M., & Sabetti, J. (2012). Recovery in Canada: Toward social equality. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 24(1), 19–28. https://doi.org/10.3109/09540261.2012.655712
- Pietkiewicz, I., & Smith, J. (2014). A practical guide to using interpretative phenomenological analysis in qualitative research psychology. *Psychological Journal*, 20(1), 7-14. https://doi.org/10.14691/CPPJ.20.1.7
- Plack, M. M. (2005). Human nature and research paradigms: Theory meets physical therapy practice. *Qualitative Report*, 10(2), 223-245. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol10/iss2/3
- Priebe, A., Wiklund-Gustin, L., & Fredriksson, L. (2018). A sanctuary of safety: A study of how patients with dual diagnosis experience caring conversations. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 27(2), 856-865. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12374">https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12374</a>
- Probst, B. (2015). The eye regards itself: Benefits and challenges of reflexivity in qualitative social work. *Social Work Research*, 39(1), 38-48.
- Public Health Canada Agency. (2018). Preventing problematic substance use in youth. *The public health officer's report on the state of public health in Canada*.

- https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/corporate/publications/chief-public-health-officer-reports-state-public-health-canada/2018-preventing-problematic-substance-use-youth/2018-preventing-problematic-substance-use-youth.pdf
- Purdy, E. R., & Popan, E. M. (2018). Descriptive research. Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Roberts, N. P., Roberts, P. A., Jones, N., & Bisson, J. I. (2015). Psychological interventions for post-traumatic stress disorder and comorbid substance use disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 38, 25–38.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.007</a>
- Rozin, P., & Singh, I. (1999). The moralization of cigarette smoking in the United States.

  \*\*Journal of Consumer Psychology, 8(3), 321–337.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327663jcp0803\_07
- Rush, B., Urbanoski, K., Bassani, D., Castel, S., Wild, T. C., Strike, C., Kimberley, D., & Somers, J. (2008). Prevalence of co-occurring substance use and other mental disorders in the Canadian population. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 53(12), 800–809. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370805301206">https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370805301206</a>
- Russell, R., Ojeda, M., & Ames, B. (2017). Increasing RN perceived competency with substance use disorder patients. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 48(4), 175-183. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20170321-08">https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20170321-08</a>
- Salkind, N. J. (2010). Encyclopedia of research design. [electronic resource]. Sage. <a href="http://o-dx.doi.org.aupac.lib.athabascau.ca/10.4135/9781412961288">http://o-dx.doi.org.aupac.lib.athabascau.ca/10.4135/9781412961288</a>
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing and Health*, 23(4), 334-340.

- Sansone, R. A., Jordan Bohinc, R., & Wiederman, M. W. (2014). A cross-sectional survey of childhood trauma and compliance with general health care among adult primary care outpatients. *The primary care companion for CNS disorders*, *16*(6), <a href="https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.14m01692">https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.14m01692</a>
- Seixas, B. V., Smith, N., & Mitton, C. (2018). The qualitative descriptive approach in international comparative studies: Using online qualitative surveys. *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*, 9, 778-781. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2017.142
- Slade, M. (2009). 100 ways to support recovery: A guide for mental health professionals. Rethink.
- Slade, M., Amering, M., Farkas, M., Hamilton, B., O'Hagan, M., Panther, G., Perkins, R., Shepherd, G., Tse, S., & Whitley, R. (2014). Uses and abuses of recovery: Implementing recovery-oriented practices in mental health systems. *World Psychiatry*, *13*(1), 12-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20084">https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20084</a>
- Slade, M., Leamy, M., Bacon, F., Janosik, M., Le Boutillier, C., Williams, J., & Bird, V. (2012). International differences in understanding recovery: Systematic review. *Epidemiology* and Psychiatric Services, 21(4), 353-364. https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796012000133
- Skinner, W. J. W. (Eds.). (2005). *Treating concurrent disorders: a guide for counsellors*. Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- Stangor, C., & Walinga, J. (2014). *Introduction to psychology: 1st Canadian edition*.

  <a href="https://opentextbc.ca/introductiontopsychology/chapter/2-2-psychologists-use-descriptive-correlational-and-experimental-research-designs-to-understand-behavior/">https://opentextbc.ca/introductiontopsychology/chapter/2-2-psychologists-use-descriptive-correlational-and-experimental-research-designs-to-understand-behavior/</a>

- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2009). What are

  Peer Recovery Support Services?

  <a href="https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/d7/priv/sma09-4454.pdf">https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/d7/priv/sma09-4454.pdf</a>
- Swatzell, K.E., & Jennings, P.R. (2007). Descriptive research: The nuts and bolts. *Journal of the American Academy of PAs*, 20(7), 1-2.
- Thorkildsen, K. M., Eriksson, K., & Råholm, M.B. (2015). The core of love when caring for patients suffering from addiction. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 29(2), 353–360. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12171">https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12171</a>
- Tomes, N. (2006). The patient as a policy factor: A historical case study of the consumer/survivor movement in mental health. *Health Affairs*, 25(3), 720–729. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.25.3.720
- Tuck, A., Hamilton, H. A., Agic, B., Ialomiteanu, A. R., & Mann, R. E. (2017). Past year cannabis use and problematic cannabis use among adults by ethnicity in Ontario. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 179, 93–99. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.06.022">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.06.022</a>
- Turale, S. (2020). A brief introduction to Qualitative Description: A research design worth using.

  Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research, 24(3), 289-291.
- Understanding harm reduction: Substance use. (2020, February). HealthlinkBC. from <a href="https://www.healthlinkbc.ca/healthlinkbc-files/substance-use-harm-reduction">https://www.healthlinkbc.ca/healthlinkbc-files/substance-use-harm-reduction</a>
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, *15*(3), 398-405. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12048">https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12048</a>

- Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3). <a href="http://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376">http://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376</a>.
- van Boekel, L. C., Brouwers, E. P. M., van Weeghel, J., & Garretsen, H. F. L. (2013). Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: Systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *131*, 23-35. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.02.018">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.02.018</a>
- Velez, C. M., Nicolaidis, C., Korthuis, P. T., & Englander, H. (2017). "It's been an experience, a life learning experience": A qualitative study of hospitalized patients with substance use disorders. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 32(3), 296–303.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3919-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3919-4</a>
- Wason, K., Potter, A., Alves, J., Loukas, V. L., Lastimoso, C., Sodder, S., Caputo, A., & LaBelle, C. T. (2021). Addiction Nursing Competencies: A Comprehensive Toolkit for the Addictions Nurse. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*.
  <a href="https://ancbonline.org/resources/Pictures/education/competencies.pdf">https://ancbonline.org/resources/Pictures/education/competencies.pdf</a>
- White, W. & Cloud, W. (2008). Recovery capital: A primer for addictions professionals.

  Counselor, 9(5), 22-27.
- Willis, D. G., Sullivan-Bolyai, S., Knafl, K., & Zichi-Cohen, M. (2016). Distinguishing features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *38*, 1185–1204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945916645499
- Woo, K. (2019). Polit & Beck Canadian essentials of nursing research (4th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Younas, A., & Quennell, S. (2019). Usefulness of nursing theory-guided practice: an integrative review. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 33(3), 540–555.

https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12670

## **Footnotes**

<sup>1</sup> Within the thesis, the term Substance Use Disorder may sometimes be used singularly (Substance Use Disorder) or plurally (Substance Use Disorders). Likewise, the term ISUD may be used singularly (Individuals with Substance Use Disorder) or plurally (Individuals with Substance Abuse Disorders).

## Appendix A: Athabasca University Research Ethics Board Approval



#### **CERTIFICATION OF ETHICAL APPROVAL**

The Athabasca University Research Ethics Board (REB) has reviewed and approved the research project noted below. The REB is constituted and operates in accordance with the current version of the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2) and Athabasca University Policy and Procedures.

Ethics File No.: 24195

#### **Principal Investigator**:

Mr. Niall Tamayo, Graduate Student Faculty of Health Disciplines\Master of Nursing

#### Supervisor:

Dr. Annette Lane (Supervisor)
Dr. Rola Moghabghab (Co-Supervisor)

#### **Project Title:**

Effective Nursing Recovery-Oriented Interventions for Individuals with Substance Use Disorder: A Qualitative Descriptive Study

Effective Date: February 16, 2021 Expiry Date: February 15, 2022

## Restrictions:

Any modification or amendment to the approved research must be submitted to the AUREB for approval.

Ethical approval is valid for a period of one year. An annual request for renewal must be submitted and approved by the above expiry date if a project is ongoing beyond one year.

A Project Completion (Final) Report must be submitted when the research is complete (i.e. all participant contact and data collection is concluded, no follow-up with participants is anticipated and findings have been made available/provided to participants (if applicable)) or the research is terminated.

Approved by: Date: February 16, 2021

Barbara Wilson-Keates, Chair Faculty of Health Disciplines, Departmental Ethics Review Committee

Athabasca University Research Ethics Board
University Research Services, Research Centre
1 University Drive, Athabasca AB Canada T9S 3A3
E-mail rebsec@athabascau.ca
Telephone: 780.213.2033

## Appendix B: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board Approval



June 4, 2021

Study Title: Effective Descriptive Nursing Study Recovery-Oriented Interventions for

Individuals with Substance Use Disorder: A Qualitative Descriptive Study

Principal Investigator: Rola Moghabghab, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

Co-Investigators: Niall Tamayo, Annette Lane

REB #: 031/2021 Review Type: Delegated

Expiry Date: June 4, 2022

## **Study Approval Letter**

The Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board has reviewed this study and has granted approval until the expiry date noted above.

#### **Documents Approved:**

- Protocol (Version 3 dated 2021JUN03)
- REDCap e-Consent Form (Version 4 dated 2021JUN03)
- Participant Master List (Version 1 dated Feb 11, 2021)
- Interview Protocol (Version 1 dated Feb 11, 2021)
- Invitation to Participate (Version 3 dated 2021MAY01)
- Recruitment Poster (Version 3 dated 2021JUN04)
- Initial Email Contact Script (Version 1 dated 2021MAY01)
- Initial Telephone Contact Script (Version 1 dated 2021MAY01)
- List of Organizational Supports for Staff (Version 1 dated 2021MAY01)
- Informed Consent Process Checklist & Note (Version 1 dated 2021MAY01)
- Webex Email Script (Version 1 dated 2021MAY01)

#### Please note the following:

- This study must be conducted as outlined in the REB approved materials, and in accordance with CAMH policies and procedures, the TCPS2 (2nd edition of the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans), the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act and its applicable Regulations, and with all other applicable laws, regulations or guidelines
- No deviations from, or changes to, the protocol should be initiated without prior written approval from the CAMH REB, except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazard(s) to study participants

33 Ursula Franklin Street Toronto, ON M5S 2S1

Page 1 of 2

# camh

Ethics approval must be renewed prior to the expiry noted above - failure to do so will result in an
immediate suspension of ethics approval

REB members with a conflict of interest on a study do not participate in the discussion, deliberation or decision on such studies.

The Centre For Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board (CAMH REB) operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2), the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP), Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations, Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations, Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations, and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The CAMH REB is qualified through the CTO REB Qualification Program and is registered with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) Office for Human Research Protection (OHRP).

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Robert Levitan

Chair

Research Ethics Board

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

E-mail: Robert.levitan@camh.ca Telephone: 416-535-8501 x 34020

Robert Links

33 Ursula Franklin Street Toronto, ON M5S 2S1

Page 2 of 2

## **Appendix C: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board Amendment Approval**



August 16, 2021

Study Title: Effective Descriptive Nursing Study Recovery-Oriented Interventions for

Individuals with Substance Use Disorder: A Qualitative Descriptive Study

Principal Investigator: Rola Moghabghab, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

Co-Investigators: Niall Tamayo, Annette Lane

**REB #:** 031/2021-01

## Amendment #1 Approval Letter

The Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board has reviewed this study and has granted approval until the expiry date noted above.

#### **Documents Approved:**

- Protocol (Version 5 dated 2021AUG12)
- Initial Telephone Contact Script (Version 2 dated 2021JUL13)
- Email Reminder Script (Version 1 dated 2021JUL13)

#### Please note the following:

- This study must be conducted as outlined in the REB approved materials, and in accordance with CAMH policies and procedures, the TCPS2 (2nd edition of the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans ), the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act and its applicable Regulations, and with all other applicable laws, regulations or guidelines
- No deviations from, or changes to, the protocol should be initiated without prior written approval from the CAMH REB, except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazard(s) to study participants
- Ethics approval must be renewed prior to the expiry noted above failure to do so will result in an immediate suspension of ethics approval

REB members with a conflict of interest on a study do not participate in the discussion, deliberation or decision on such studies.

The Centre For Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board (CAMH REB) operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2), the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP), Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations, Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations, Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations, and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The CAMH REB is qualified through the CTO REB Qualification Program and is registered with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) Office for Human Research Protection (OHRP).

33 Ursula Franklin Street

Toronto, ON

Page 1 of 2



Yours sincerely,

Dr. Robert Levitan

Chair

**Research Ethics Board** 

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

E-mail: Robert.levitan@camh.ca
Telephone: 416-535-8501 x 34020

33 Ursula Franklin Street Toronto, ON

M5S 2S1

Page 2 of 2

## **Appendix D: Study Flow Chart**

#### 6.0 Flow chart

#### Recruitment:

Participants will be recruited via an email containing invitation to participate and poster sent by the manager of the CAITS, MWS, ED program, CCC tx 3, CCC tx 4 and COMPASS. Within the invitation to participate and recruitment posters, participants are asked to connect with Niall via email or phone if they would like to participate. Niall will also propose to come to staff or nursing meetings to discuss the proposed study. Depending on how recruitment is going, Niall can request the manager to also send a reminder email (using the email reminder script) to the above-mentioned teams, 1-2 weeks after the initial email has been sent.



#### Initial Contact

When participants express that they would like to participate, Niall will contact the participant and utilize the initial email contact script and/or initial telephone script.

Expressed consent to communicate via email will be retrieved
Pertinent information for Master List will be retrieved
Participant information will be reviewed against inclusion criteria
Niall will send electronic consent form (view-only) from REDCap and schedule the Informed
Consent meeting.

Niall will attach the WeBex email script when scheduling the WeBex meeting.



## **Informed Consent Process:**

Niall will review the consent form with the participant. If they agree to participate, participants will be requested to complete electronic consent form (in survey mode) via REDCap.

Niall will complete the Informed Consent process checklist. Niall will ensure participant has a copy of signed informed consent. Niall will schedule the data collection meeting via a WeBex meeting invite which will include the WebEx email script.



## **Data Collection:**

Niall will collect data virtually (through WebEx) using semi-structured interviews. Interviews will be 1 hour in length. Participants are also offered to partake in an optional member check for 1 hour.



#### Study completion

Version 5 dated 2021AUG12

## **Appendix E: Recruitment Poster**





## PARTICIPANTS NEEDED FOR RESEARCH IN ADDICTION NURSING

We are *looking for Nurses* to take part in a study to describe effective nursing recovery-oriented interventions when working with individuals with substance use disorder.

As a participant in this study, you would be asked to participate in a **one-time virtual interview**.

Your participation is *entirely voluntary* and would take up approximately *one-two hours* of your time. By participating in this study, you will help identify effective nursing recovery-oriented interventions which can improve the care received by individuals who struggle with substance use.

In appreciation for your time, you will be entered into a draw for a \$20 gift card to Starbucks.

To learn more about this study, or to participate in this study, please contact:

## **Graduate Student:**

Niall Tamayo, Master of Nursing Student Athabasca University Email: <a href="mailto:ntamayo1@athabasca.edu">ntamayo1@athabasca.edu</a> Cell:(416) 558-4758

This study is supervised by:

Rola Moghabghab Email: <a href="mailto:rola.moghabghab@camh.ca">rola.moghabghab@camh.ca</a>
<a href="mailto:Dr.Annette">Dr.Annette</a>, Lane Email: alane@athabascau.ca

This study has been reviewed by the Athabasca University Research Ethics Board.

Version 3 dated 2021JUN04

CAMH REB # 031/2021

## **Appendix F: Letter of Information/Informed Consent Form**





#### LETTER OF INFORMATION / INFORMED CONSENT FORM

Effective Nursing Recovery-Oriented Interventions for Individuals with Substance Use Disorder

June 3, 2021

Principal Investigator: Rola Moghabghab, Director rola.moghabghab@camh.ca Co-Investigator:

Dr. Annette Lane, Associate Professor

alane@athabascau.ca

Graduate Student:

Niall Tamayo
niall.tamayo@camh.ca

You are invited to take part in a research project entitled 'Effective Nursing Recovery-Oriented Interventions for Individuals with Substance Use Disorder'.

This form is part of the process of informed consent. The information presented should give you the basic idea of what this research is about and what your participation will involve, should you choose to participate. It also describes your right to withdraw from the project. In order to decide whether you wish to participate in this research project, you should understand enough about its risks, benefits and what it requires of you to be able to make an informed decision. This is the informed consent process. Take time to read this carefully as it is important that you understand the information given to you. Please contact *Niall Tamayo* if you have any questions about the project or would like more information before you consent to participate.

It is entirely up to you whether or not you take part in this research. If you choose not to take part, or if you decide to withdraw from the research once it has started, there will be no negative consequences for you now, or in the future.

#### Introduction

My name is Niall Tamayo and I am a Master of Nursing Student at Athabasca University. As a requirement to complete my degree, I am conducting a research project about effective nursing interventions that facilitated the recovery of individuals who struggle with substance use. I am conducting this project under the supervision of Rola Moghabghab and Dr. Annette Lane.

#### Why are you being asked to take part in this research project?

You are being invited to participate in this project because you have provided care to individuals who struggle with substance use and are currently working at an academic teaching psychiatric hospital in Toronto.

## What is the purpose of this research project?

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study will be to describe the effective recovery-oriented nursing interventions that nurses apply in an academic teaching psychiatric hospital in Toronto. We are trying to highlight the nursing perspective regarding interventions that effectively facilitate the recovery of individuals who struggle with substance use. The information gained from this study can provide nurses with a variety of effective nursing interventions they can draw from when providing care to individuals who struggle with substance use.





#### What will you be asked to do?

You will be asked to participate in a one-time, 1-hour virtual interview, scheduled at your convenience. You will be asked to provide consent to communicate over email. You will be invited to answer some questions regarding effective nursing interventions that facilitated the recovery of individuals who struggle with substance use. The questions are focused on understanding what these interventions are and how they can facilitate recovery. The audio and video will be recorded for transcription purposes.

You will be invited to review the findings prior to the dissemination.

#### What are the risks and benefits?

There should be minimal physical, social, and economic risks involved by participating in the study. However, there can be psychological and spiritual risks. The risks are due to the author requesting you to think about your experiences and the past. These can include traumatizing and non-positive experiences which can alter your state. If any psychological or spiritual risk arises, Niall will immediately connect you to the principal investigator (Rola Moghabghab), who is a licensed Nurse Practitioner with extensive clinical experience, who will conduct an assessment and implement interventions. Interventions may include providing you a list of organizational supports for employees or crisis resources. In extreme risk, interventions may include research staff contacting emergency services to support you.

If WebEx is used, videoconferencing technology possesses privacy and security risks. It is possible that information could be intercepted by unauthorized people (hacked) or otherwise shared by accident. This risk can't be completely eliminated.

You or the research team can stop the session at any time, including if there are technical difficulties. If there are technical issues, one of our technical staff may join the call to provide support.

Additionally, the security of information sent by e-mail cannot be guaranteed. Please do not communicate personal sensitive information by e-mail. Email is not monitored outside of work hours. Please do not use email to communicate emergency or urgent health matters – please contact your clinician or, in case of a medical emergency, call 911.

#### Benefits

By participating, it might help highlight the beneficial work you are providing in your nursing practice.

The study can help increase awareness on effective recovery-oriented interventions that inpatient nurses at CAMH utilize when working with individuals who struggle with substance use. The study may produce knowledge which can better facilitate the recovery and improve the care of individuals who struggle with substance use.

## Compensation

You will have a chance to be financially gifted for their time. You will be entered into a draw for a \$20 gift card to Starbucks to be drawn on Aug 31, 2021.

## Do you have to take part in this project?

As stated earlier in this letter, involvement in this project is entirely voluntary. You may stop your participation at any point; this can also be done partway through the interview. You would have

Version 4 dated 2021JUN03

Page 2 of 5

to inform the research team if you wish to withdraw. Prior to data analysis, any data collected until that point may be removed from the study.

Withdrawal from the study will result in the removal of your name from the gift card draw.

#### How will your privacy and confidentiality be protected?

The ethical duty of confidentiality includes safeguarding participants' identities, personal information, and data from unauthorized access, use or disclosure.

We will not be sharing information about you to anyone outside of the research team. Any information about you will have a number on it instead of your name. Only the researchers will know what your number is, and we will store that information in a password protected document.

Members of the research team and authorized representatives of CAMH, including the CAMH Research Ethics Board and Research Quality Assurance Office, will have access to your study records for use in connection with this study.

All information will be held confidential, except when legislation or a professional code of conduct requires that it be reported.

### How will my anonymity be protected?

Anonymity refers to protecting participants' identifying characteristics, such as name or description of physical appearance.

Each participant will be provided with a participant code. No identifying information such as names will be on any data collection tools. Demographics of the participant and description of the unit will be utilized. Only the researchers will have the information regarding personal identifiers.

<u>Every reasonable effort</u> will be made to ensure your anonymity. All participant names and identifying information will be disguised through pseudonyms in the research report and any publications that occur from this research.

#### How will the data collected be stored?

- Data will be stored in a password-protected file on the principal investigator's computer.
   Any recording will also be password-protected. The computer is password protected and will be safely stored at all times. Data will be retained for 5 years, and then destroyed.
- The principal investigator, supervisor will have access to the data collected.
- Depending on the participants recruited, the data may be compared to the results of another study in the future. Further Research Ethics Board approval would have to be sought if a later project is designed.

#### Who will receive the results of the research project?

- The existence of the research will be listed in an abstract posted online at the Athabasca University Library's Digital Thesis and Project Room and the final research paper(s) will be publicly available.
- Given the descriptive nature of the study, direct quotations will be reported.
- The initial results will be reviewed with the participants. Aspects of the research project may
  be submitted for publication to research journal(s) (to be determined). The author may also
  present the findings during grand rounds at the academic teaching hospital and at

Version 4 dated 2021IUN03





conferences. If published, the author will send the participants the paper and associated findings through email. Participants will also be able to retrieve the thesis paper from the Athabasca digital thesis room: https://dt.athabascau.ca/jspui/

## Who can you contact for more information or to indicate your interest in participating in the research project?

Thank you for considering this invitation. If you have any questions or would like more information, please contact me by e-mail <a href="mailto:niall.tamayo@camh.ca">niall.tamayo@camh.ca</a> or phone:4165584758, the principal investigator by e-mail rola.moghabghab@camh.ca or my supervisor by e-mail <a href="mailto:alane@athabascau.ca">alane@athabascau.ca</a>. If you are ready to participate in this project, please complete the participant e-consent form (survey-mode) via REDCap.

Thank you,

Niall Tamayo

Please note that the survey data may be initially collected and housed on servers located in the continental USA and is subject to USA privacy legislation.

This project has been reviewed by the Athabasca University Research Ethics Board. Should you have any comments or concerns regarding your treatment as a participant in this project, please contact the Research Ethics Office by e-mail at rebsec@athabascau.ca or by telephone at 1-800-788-9041, ext. 6718.

If you have questions about your rights as a participant or about ethical issues related to this study, you can talk to someone who is not involved in the study at all. That person is the Chair of the Research Ethics Board (REB). The REB is a group of people responsible for the ethical oversight of this study. The Chair of the REB can be reached by telephone at 416-535-8501 ext. 34020.





Participant Code

#### PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

Effective Nursing Recovery-Oriented Interventions for Individuals with Substance Use Disorder Graduate Student: Niall Tamayo Phone: (416)558-4758

Email: niall.tamayo@camh.ca

#### Your signature on this form means that:

- You have read the information about the research project.
- You have been able to ask questions about this project.
- You are satisfied with the answers to any questions you may have had.
- You understand what the research project is about and what you will be asked to do.
- You understand that you are free to withdraw your participation in the research project without having to give a reason, and that doing so will not affect you now, or in the future.
- You agree to be audio and video recorded.
- You agree to the use of direct quotation.
- You allow data collected to be archived in the Athabasca University Library's Digital Thesis and Project Room.

#### Your signature confirms:

- You have read what this research project is about and understood the risks and benefits. You
  have had time to think about participating in the project and had the opportunity to ask
  questions and have those questions answered to your satisfaction.
- You understand that participating in the project is entirely voluntary and that you may end your participation at any time without any penalty or negative consequences.
- You have not waived any legal rights/rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm
- · You have been given a copy of this Informed Consent form for your records; and
- You agree to participate in this research project.

Signature of Participant	Date			
Person conducting consent discuss I have explained this project to the were asked. I believe that the par research project, any potential ris	he best of my ability rticipant fully unders	stands what is inv	volved in participating	
Signature of person conducting con	nsent discussion	Date		

If you have questions about your rights as a participant or about ethical issues related to this study, you can talk to someone who is not involved in the study at all. That person is the Chair of the Research Ethics Board (REB). The REB is a group of people responsible for the ethical oversight of this study. The Chair of the REB can be reached by telephone at 416-535-8501 ext. 34020.

Appendix	<b>G</b> : ]	Interview	<b>Protocol</b>
----------	--------------	-----------	-----------------

Participant Code: Date:

## **INTERVIEW PROTOCOL**

Effective Nursing Recovery-Oriented Interventions for Individuals with Substance Use Disorder

	Memos
Introduction	
Thank you for accepting the invitation to participate in this research interview about your nursing interventions that were effective in facilitating the recovery of individuals with substance use disorder. I would like to confirm that you have read and signed the Letter of Information and Informed Consent Form. Your participation is voluntary, and you may choose to withdraw from the interview at any time. You may also choose to not answer any of the questions. The interview will take up to one hour.	
Before we begin, I want to acknowledge my position within the institution as APCL. However, I will guarantee confidentiality and I will have a researcher lens on rather than an educator lens. What is said and by whom during the interview will not be shared with the institution.	
Questions Do you have any questions before we begin? Let's get started.	
Recording Ask Permission. I will begin recording our interview.	
Demographics  Age:	
Gender:	

Education:	
Additional certification (i.e. CNA psychiatric):	
Length of time in addictions:	
Length of time in current position:	
Interview Questions	Memos
How did you come to work in addictions?	monios
Trow did you come to work in addictions:	
How do you view recovery?	
Are there theories, best practices that you utilize when caring for people who have substance use disorders?	
How do nurses facilitate the recovery of ISUD?	

What makes the role of a nurse unique?	
What makes the role of a nurse unique?  Are there interventions that nurses do which is	
different from other interprofessional team	
members?	
What are nurses doing well to support the recovery of	
ISUD?	
During admission?	
During their stay?	
During Discharge?	
During Discharge:	
What are interventions that you found effective for the	
recovery of ISUD?	
Are there interventions that you seem to do	
more of?	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of?	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	
more of? Are there interventions that patients seem to	

Do you have any other questions before we end the interview?	
Thank you	
Again, I want to thank you for your time.	
I will include your name for a draw for a \$20 Starbucks gift card. You will be informed via email if you get this.	
Lastly, would you be ok if we contact you for a future meeting to double check our findings?	